
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION 

TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

 
To: The Members of the Liverpool City Region 
 Transport Committee 
 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Liverpool City Region Transport 
Committee to be held on Thursday, 4th March, 2021 at 2.00 pm. This meeting 
is being held remotely. 
 
The meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the 
Combined Authority’s website at the time of the meeting and follow the 
instructions on the page. 

 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Shauna Phillips 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1086. 
 

Yours faithfully 
 

 
Chief Executive  

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk  
 
A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 

mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

 
 

TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

   

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting of the Transport Committee 
held on 13 January 2021. 
 

  (Pages 1 - 8) 

4. QUARTERLY BUS UPDATE  

 To consider a report of Merseytravel updating Members on key bus issues 
relating to the fourth quarter of 2020/21. 

 

  (Pages 9 - 18) 

5. ASSET MANAGEMENT UPDATE MARCH 2021  

 To consider a report of the Interim Director of Integrated Transport 
providing an update of key activities within Asset Management over the 
last 12 months, as well as outlining planned capital works schemes for 
21/22 to support delivery of the Mersey Tunnels Long Term Operations 
and Maintenance Strategy. 
 

  (Pages 19 - 26) 

6. CONSULTATION ON MANCHESTER RAIL SERVICES  

 To consider a report of the Assistant Director for Rail advising members of 
a consultation regarding rail services through Manchester and to seek 
approval to a draft response from LCRCA. 
 

  (Pages 27 - 78) 

7. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  

 Members of the public will be given the opportunity to ask questions which 
have been submitted in accordance with Meetings Standing Orders No. 
11.  
 
A period of 30 minutes will be allocated for this item and copies of valid 



 

 

questions will be circulated at the meeting. 
 
Members of the public who wish to submit questions are asked to contact 
Democratic Services by either: 
 
Email: democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0151 330 1086 
In writing: Democratic Services, LCR Combined Authority, No.1 Mann 
Island, PO Box 1976, Liverpool, L69 3HN 
 
A pro-forma will be supplied which, for this meeting must be returned by 
5.00pm on Monday 1 March 2021. In this respect, return details are set out 
in the pro-forma. 
 
 

   

8. PETITIONS AND STATEMENTS  

 Members of the public will be given the opportunity to submit a single 
petition or statement in accordance with Meetings Standing Orders No. 11. 
 
Members of the Public who wish to submit a single petition or statement 
are asked to contact Democratic Services by either: 
 
Email: democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0151 330 1086 
In writing: Democratic Services, LCR Combined Authority, No.1 Mann 
Island, PO Box 1976, Liverpool, L69 3HN 
 
All petitions and statements for this meeting should be submitted to 
Merseytravel, using the contact details above, by 5.00pm on Monday 1 
March 2021. 
 

   

9. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR  

   
 

 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 
 

At a meeting of the Transport Committee held remotely on Wednesday, 13th 
January, 2021 the following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor L Robinson 
Chairperson of the Transport Committee 

(in the Chair)  
 

Councillors 
 
G Friel, A Jones, K McGlashan, N Nicholas, G Philbin, J Stockton and J Williams. 
 
 
44. CHAIRPERSON'S REMARKS  
 
The Chairperson of the Committee, Councillor Liam Robinson welcomed everyone to 
the first Transport Committee Meeting of the new year. Councillor Robinson opened 
the meeting by apologising for the delayed start which was due to a technical issue 
with the Microsoft Live Programme. 
 
45. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor M O‟Mara MBE. 
 
Due to technical difficulties the following Councillors were unable to be present at the 
meeting but observed the meeting via the live stream: 

 
P Cleary, J Dodd, S Foulkes, P Hayes, N Killen, A Lavelle, P McKinley, L Mooney, S 

Murphy, J Pearson, G Stockton, H Thompson, M Uddin, and F Wynn. 

46. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
47. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 
RESOLVED - That the minutes of the last meeting of the Transport Committee held 

on 10 December 2020, be approved as a correct record.  

 

48. MERSEY TUNNEL TOLLS 2020/21  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Assistant Director for Customer Delivery, 

Gary Evans, which set out the Mersey Tunnel Tolls recommendation for 2021/22.  

 

Gary Evans explained that the report set out the legal procedure for annually revising 

the tunnel tolls and made proposals for the level of tolls payable from 1 April 2021. It 

was highlighted that the Authorised Toll levels for 21/22, which were in line with 

Mersey Tunnels Act 2004, were higher than the proposed Toll levels for 2021/22.  

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



The Committee were informed that the report presented current tunnel usage data 

which included payment methods. It was explained that the officers‟ recommendation 

was to retain the current toll levels and continue the concessionary scheme and other 

discounts including free travel for emergency service vehicles. 

 

Councillor Friel commented that he agreed with the officers‟ recommendations and 

wished to place on record the Transport Committee‟s thanks to all of the front-line 

workers who had kept the Tunnels operating throughout the pandemic.  

 

The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson, echoed Councillor Friel‟s comments and 

added that he warmly welcomed the report and the recommendations. Discussing 

the pandemic, Councillor Robinson commented that freezing the tolls was the right 

thing to do especially for key workers making essential journeys.  

 

Councillor Robinson added that for many years there had been an ambition to see an 

increased use of the Fast Tag discount amongst local residents and he was very 

pleased to see that the report detailed that almost 50% of tunnel users had a Fast 

Tag. Adding that this was a great achievement for Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram in 

his first term. 

 
RESOLVED: That:  

 
(a) the contents of the report be noted; 

 
(b) the level of “authorised tolls” for the Mersey Tunnels as determined by the 

County of Merseyside Act 1980 (as amended by the Mersey Tunnels Act 
2004), with details on calculation methods explained in section 3 of this report 
be noted;  
 

(c) the Transport Committee recommended that the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority implement a schedule of tolls contained in Table 1 below 
with effect from Thursday 1 April 2021: - 

 
 

Vehicle 
Class 

Authorised 
Toll 21/22 
(November 
RPI) 

2021/22 Cash 
Toll  

2021/22 Fast 
Tag Toll – 
LCR 
Resident* 

2021/22 Fast 
Tag Toll – Non 
LCR Resident 

1 £2.10 £1.80 £1.00 £1.80 

2 £4.20 £3.60 £2.40 £2.40 

3 £6.30 £5.40 £3.60 £3.60 

4 £8.50 £7.20 £4.80 £4.80 

 
*Liverpool City Region (LCR) resident defined as living within the electoral 
boundaries of Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral. 
 

(d) the Transport Committee recommended that the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority continue to offer the additional discounts set out in 
paragraph 3.14 of this report for 2021/22. 

 
 
 

Page 2



49. MERSEYTRAVEL BUDGET SETTING REPORT - 2021/22  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Treasurer, John Fogarty, which set out 
the draft revenue budget and capital programme for Merseytravel for 2021/22. 

 
John Fogarty explained that the budget for 2021/22 had been set in an environment 
of significant uncertainty and risk. It was highlighted that the biggest problem faced 
by the Combined Authority in regard to transport was the financial loses that had 
occurred as a consequence of the pandemic.  

 
The Committee were informed that the public transport landscape had changed 
dramatically and due to social distancing requirements, patronage levels and 
revenue had reduced. It was explained that the bus industry was dependent on 
public subsidy from the Department for Transport and the concessionary travel 
payment from the Combined Authority in order to operate.  

 
Furthermore, it was explained that the Combined Authority had to maintain the 
concessionary travel payment at pre-Covid levels due to previously signed 
commitments. The Committee heard that recovery in the bus industry would be 
dependent on continued subsidy from Government. 

 
In terms of the rail industry, it was explained similar issues had also been 
encountered however it was noted that Merseyrail had also stood their own loses. It 
was highlighted that the challenges faced by the rail industry could potentially be 
longer lasting due to a change in working patterns expected to last beyond the 
pandemic.  

 
In addition, it was highlighted that direct services, ferries, supported bus services and 
the Beatles Story Board had all experienced a reduction in revenue that was 
expected to go into the next financial year. This was compounded by the losses in 
the Tunnels income which also looked set to continue. 

 
John Fogarty explained that the proposed budget was a holding position due to the 
situation facing the organisation and highlighted that there were no significant 
changes to fares, tolls or the nature of services. It was reported that the Metro Mayor 
was proposing that the Transport Levy remained frozen and that the distinct 
arrangements for Halton remained the same. 
 
The Committee heard that one of the main uncertainties that the Combined Authority 
faced was the extent or duration of Central Government support for transport losses. 
It was explained that once the organisation had greater certainty over the post Covid 
environment, elements of the budget would need to be revisited. 
 
Discussing patronage between national lockdowns, it was highlighted that transport 
levels in the city region recovered to higher than the national average. Showing that 
the need for public transport locally remained fundamentally strong.  

 
The Committee were informed that the report also presented the draft Capital 
Programme for 2021/22 with the main element being the Rolling Stock trains which 
were due to be in service by 2022. It was explained that the Combined Authority 
were continuing to invest in new ferries and new facilities including a variety of new 
rail stations across the city region. With the Combined Authority‟s budget providing 
resources for bus reform and recovery as a mayoral priority. 

 

Page 3



Councillor Gordon Friel noted that he was disappointed to discover that the Liverpool 
City Region had not received Emergency Measures Agreements for their rail services 
despite Transport for London receiving £1.8billion.  

 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson, echoed comments by Councillor Friel 
and added that a comparison of the support given to Transport for London and the 
emergency grant provided for the Liverpool City Region, showed a difference of three 
times less per head population equivalent.  

 
Councillor Robinson commented that the proposed budget and capital programme 
was very strong given the difficult circumstances and wished to play tribute to all of 
the officers who had been involved in the process. Adding that it was right to freeze 
the transport Levy and the fares, fees and charges within the budget but recognising 
that this may be revisited later in the year.   

 
RESOLVED: That:  

 

(a) the Transport Committee requested that the LCRCA approve the 2021/22 
operating grants for both public transport and Mersey Tunnels operating 
activities as detailed in section 4 of this report; 
 

(b) the Transport Committee considered and approved the decision in respect of 
fares/prices included within this report; and 
 

(c) the Transport Committee requested that the LCRCA approve the capital 
programme as detailed in section 4. 

 
50. SOUTH LIVERPOOL GLOBAL GATEWAY EASTERN ACCESS 

CORRIDOR - UPDATE  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Interim Director of Integrated Transport 

which provided an update on the progress being made towards the competition of the 

Outline Business Case for the South Liverpool Global Gateway Eastern Access 

Corridor.  

 

Andy Sawyer, Key Route Network Manager, provided the Committee with a brief 

overview of the project. It was explained that the aim was to better connect the wider 

South Estuary Area, Liverpool John Lennon Airport, the strategic highways network 

and the public transport network while supporting the growth of the South Liverpool 

Economy.  

 

The Committee were informed that in August 2020 the Combined Authority appointed 

a consultant to support the development of the Outline Business Case with the option 

to take forward a Full Business Case if a suitable funding route was made available.   

 

As part of the development of the Business Case, it was explained that a Steering 

Group had been reconvened. The Committee heard that the group comprised of CA 

officers, representatives from the Local Authorities and other key stakeholders such 

as Peel and Liverpool John Lennon Airport.  

 

Page 4



Andy Sawyer highlighted that section 3.4 of the report set out the key activities that 

had been undertaken since the start of the commission in August 2020. It was 

explained that the most significant activity that had taken place was reviewing 

previous work that had been completed as part of the strategic Outline Business 

Case and looking at options available for future development.  

 

In terms of the programme itself, it was explained that the original programme set out 

by the Consultant had indicated that the draft Outline Business Case would be 

completed by Autumn 2021. However there had been some caveats with the original 

programme and submission was now expected in Summer 2022. It was explained 

that this delay posed no risk as no funding routes had been agreed. 

 

Discussing short-term objectives, it was highlighted that the next stage of the project 

was to complete the consultation and engagement strategy and shortlist design 

elements of the scheme. It was explained a further update would be brought to the 

Committee as the project progresses.  

 

The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson thanked Andy Sawyer for his report and 

requested that he attended a future members‟ briefing to provide the Committee with 

a more detailed insight into the project.  

 

RESOLVED - That the contents of the report be noted.  
 
51. SUBMISSION OF EVIDENCE TO THE TRANSPORT SELECT 

COMMITTEE- MAJOR TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS: 
APPRAISAL AND DELIVERY  

 
The Committee considered the report of the Director of Policy and Strategic 

Commissioning which set out a draft response to the Government‟s Transport Select 

Committee inquiry on the appraisal and delivery of major transport projects in the UK.  

 

Suzanne Cain, Transport Policy Co-ordinator, informed the Committee that the 
inquiry had five main areas of interest – strategy and priorities, appraisal and funding, 
oversight accountability and governance, cost and capacity and skills.  

 
It was explained that there were a number of proposed changes to the draft response 
set out in the report due to the tight turnaround between the publication of the call for 
evidence and agenda publication.  

 
Suzanne Cain presented an overview of the proposed changes to the committee:  

 

 Minor text changes so the response did not exceed the 3,000-word maximum; 

 In paragraph 3 after discussing the net zero carbon emitting target, an additional 
paragraph had been added discussing the long-term opportunities set out in the 
Local Industrial Strategy 

 An addition to paragraph 9 to highlight the Halton Curve as an example of the 
GRIP processes; 

 Paragraph 11 had been deleted, with the exception to the last two sentences 
which had formed the beginning of paragraph 12; 

 Introduced a new paragraph 11 which addressed how major transport projects 
can be delivered to meet the Government‟s decarbonisation targets; 

Page 5



 A summary of Dame Colette Bowe‟s review had been added to paragraph 16, 
with the detailed information being removed; 

 The second sentence in paragraph 18 and the accompanying bullets had been 
deleted; 

 Paragraph 19 and 20 along with their accompanying bullets had been deleted; 

 The last sentence in paragraph 22 had been deleted; 

 Paragraph 28 had been deleted; and  

 The company names in paragraph 30 had been removed.  
 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson, asked for the updated response with the 
proposed changes to be circulated to the Committee for consideration.  

 
Councillor John Stockton raised concerns regarding the governance of the „Levelling-
Up‟ agenda and noted that there needed to be further information released from 
Central Government regarding the devolution of power to the North. Councillor 
Stockton therefore requested that these concerns be added to the response. It was 
explained that the response already detailed these issues and made particular 
reference to the power in devolution to the North. The response also set out 
concerns regarding the Northern Transport Acceleration Council and highlighted the 
issue of transparency.  

 
Councillor Stockton also raised reservations regarding the Skills Strategy Deficit and 
questioned whether this could be highlighted in the response. It was explained that 
due to the word limit it was difficult to include this issue in detail however the knock-
on implications were highlighted in the response.  
 
Councillor Ged Philbin wished to highlight the importance of the six Local Authorities 
within the city region being included when the roll-out of the projects commences.    

 
Councillor Robinson echoed comments by Councillor Philbin and thanked Suzanne 
Cain for the excellent report and draft response. Councillor Robinson also 
emphasised the importance of decisions being made at a local level to ensure that 
they are of the best interest for the city region. 

 
RESOLVED - That the Transport Committee considered the draft written evidence, 
set out in Appendix One of the report, and agreed that this be submitted to the Select 
Committee‟s secretariat ahead of the deadline of 15 January 2021. 

 
52. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
 
The committee received two questions from Mr Jacob Harris as follows:  
 
Question 1 
Recently, Merseytravel have put the X1 bus service (Liverpool ONE to Halton 
Hospital) out to tender due to the impending withdrawal of the Arriva service from the 
24th January. However, I have noticed that present, with the exception of the young 
person‟s MyTicket, Merseytravel season tickets are not currently valid within Halton. 
So, what I would like to know is: will Merseytravel tickets become valid in Halton to 
cover the X1 or will special ticketing provision be in place for this service?  
 
The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson, responded by stating that the 
Merseytravel multi-modal multi-operator tickets were not currently valid in Halton 
although Merseytravel did wish to expand the area where the tickets were valid 

Page 6



overtime. However, it was explained that there was currently no timescale for the 
inclusion of Halton within the Merseytravel Ticketing Scheme.  
 
Question 2 
Recently on my commutes to and from work, I have noticed there is still a lot of 
people not wearing face masks on the bus even though it is legally required. The 
main culprits are teenagers aged 12-15. What are Merseytravel and the bus 
companies doing to ensure compliance with the law on face masks? 
 
Councillor Robinson responded by stating that Merseytravel officers were working 
with the Travelsafe Team to regularly monitor bus services to check compliance with 
the law on face coverings. It was explained that the monitoring exercises have shown 
92% compliance.   

 
Councillor Robinson added that if members of the public were able to share 
information about the service they were on that had low compliance, this would be 
very useful. It was explained that this information could lead to a targeted operation 
on a particular service or area that had been identified as having low compliance.  

 
The Chair thanked Mr Jacob Harris for submitting his questions and explained a 
detailed, formal written response would be provided within 10 working days. 
 
53. PETITIONS AND STATEMENTS  
 
There were no petitions or statements received. 
 
54. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR  
 
There were no items of urgent business. 
 
 
Minutes 44 to 54 received as a correct record on the 4 day of March 2021. 
 
 
 
 

 

Chairperson of the Transport Committee 
 

(The meeting closed at 3.52pm) 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     4 March 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF MERSEYTRAVEL 
 

QUARTERLY BUS UPDATE  
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Members on key bus issues relating to the 

fourth quarter of 2020/21. 
 
1.2 Specifically, the report will provide Members with an update on the milestones of 

the Bus Alliance, progress updates on Bus Reform, Hybus and Green Bus Routes 
projects and an update on how the Bus Team has continued to work with bus 
operators to support the maintenance of a safe and reliable bus network whilst 
dealing with the challenges of the global COVID-19 pandemic.   

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that the Transport Committee note the content of the report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Response to the COVID-19 pandemic   
 

3.1.1 The Bus Team have been working closely with LCR bus operators 
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic to ensure a safe and reliable bus 
network for people who rely on public transport. As part of the regional 
Local Resilience Forum (LRF) structure, put in place as a response to 
COVID-19, information on face coverings, reduced vehicle passenger 
capacity and social distancing at bus stops has been provided and 
promoted throughout via literature, digital channels and direct information, 
in line with the corporate Travel Demand Management messages 
and underpinned by Merseytravel‟s Rethink Travel campaign.  

 
3.1.2 As part of the LRF, a local transport cell meets once a week to coordinate 

all transport modes within the LCR. This is alongside weekly conference 
calls taking place between Merseytravel, Arriva and Stagecoach to 
discuss resilience, and regular communication between Merseytravel and 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



the region‟s smaller bus operators. Weekly calls with the Department of 
Transport (DfT) also ensure that the latest government guidance is being 
followed and promoted. 

 
3.1.3 Patronage and vehicle capacities have been monitored and reported on a 

regular basis and compared with other areas of the UK. Arriva and 
Stagecoach have monitored their loadings throughout this period, 
operating duplicate journeys where possible. Merseytravel have carried 
out daily checks on the passenger numbers on many bus services in the 
region to identify trends and issues.  Overall, the number of journeys 
monitored where buses have exceeded agreed capacities has remained 
extremely low.   

 
3.1.4 Merseyside Police and British Transport Police joint operations to ensure 

face covering compliance occur on a regular basis and are monitored 
through the transport cell. Face covering compliance is currently between 
93-98%.  

 
3.1.5 In December 2020 when the LCR was under Tier 2 restrictions, patronage 

on the supported bus network had increased to 68% of the previous year‟s 
(pre-Covid) numbers. This figure reduced to 38% in January 2021 
following the re-introduction of national lockdown restrictions. Patronage 
on the commercial bus network in this latest lockdown period has reduced 
to approximately 30%, with frequencies reduced to approximately 80% of 
normal service levels to reflect a reduced demand but still offer a good 
level of service for those who rely on public transport.  

 
3.1.6 From 5th January 2021 the additional buses supporting the schools restart 

by providing extra capacity across the bus network were stood down in 
line with school closures. Unlike the first lockdown period in March 2020 
there were a greater number of children of key and critical workers still 
attending school, and as such only 12% of supported bus services to 
schools were stood down.  

 
3.1.7 The government has indicated that schools across the country could begin 

to return from 8 March, but we are still awaiting the detail of the roadmap 
to lifting lockdown at the earliest.  With funding for services now confirmed 
the bus team are balancing the need to maintain service and to stand 
down those current services not required, whilst maintaining the agility to 
reinstate services quickly to react to government decision making. The 
situation is still fluid, but we should know more after announcements to be 
made on Monday 22 February. Once further detail on recovery funding 
and partnerships is known we will bring a further report to Members for 
consideration.  

 
3.1.8 Arriva will resume the 699 University service from 14 Feb 2021.  This will 

replace the additional resource Merseytravel implemented to cover their 
shortfall due to driver issues.  

 
3.1.9 Throughout the pandemic the Bus Network Performance survey team 

have continued to make necessary checks on the bus network in line with 
the recovery, data is collated on the commercial network and used in 

Page 10



service level decision making, reporting at Transport Cell level and 
shaping DfT updates.  Recent activities include a bus stop audit on behalf 
of customer information, checks on the operation of the City Bus Hub and 
traffic enforcement during the Christmas period. 

 
3.2 LCR Bus Alliance 
 

3.2.1 The Focus of the LCR Bus Alliance through most of 2020 has been to both 
react to the COVID-19 pandemic, ensure a safe and reliable bus network 
and to develop the 2021/22 Business and investment Plan. This is due for 
approval by the Bus Alliance Joint Alliance Board and the Bus Alliance 
Stakeholder Board in early March.  As in the amended 2020/21 Business 
and Investment Plan the focus is on recovery and restoring customer 
confidence and details will be brought to this committee in a report of the 
first quarter of 2021/22.   

 
3.2.2 In quarter four of 2020/21, the following milestones have been completed 

or there has been significant progress made:   
 

(a) Substantial work on the Full Business Cases for both Green 
Routes and Hydrogen Bus (HyBus) Projects have been made this 
quarter.  The Hybus FBC is due for completion by March 2021 
while the Green Bus Routes FBC is taking a phased approach in 
its progression. Further detail on these projects are outlined in 3.3 
below.  

 
(b) The installation of Intelligent Transport Systems (ITS) on route 53, 

10A and 86 are making good progress, with faults being resolved 
and traffic signal bus priority systems in operation. 

 
(c) The Outline Business Case following the study into options for 

improvement of the Intelligent Transport systems across the 
Liverpool City Region went to the LCR Investment Panel in 
November and Final Business Case was submitted on 28th 
January 2021 with approvals requested at the March 2021 LCRCA 
meeting. Subject to securing approval, the delivery programme will 
be from March 2021 to March 2023 and includes retrofit to LED of 
all signalised junctions and crossings plus installation of air quality 
monitoring systems. 

 
(d) Installation of RTI screens at Bootle and Huyton Bus Station are 

on track for completion by the end of this financial year.  
 
(e) A customer confidence campaign entitled “This is my Stop” has 

been developed and launched to compliment the Rethink Travel 
campaign and inform bus users about the additional measures 
that have been put in place by bus operators to make bus travel as 
safe as possible  

 
 
 
 

Page 11



3.3 Green Bus Routes and Hydrogen Bus (HyBus) trial 
 

3.3.1 In addition to being priority milestones of the Bus Alliance, Green Bus 
Routes and the HyBus Trial are two of four projects being taken forward 
under Transforming City Fund (TCF) priority theme two – improving the 
appeal of public transport, and particularly bus, against private transport.  

 
3.3.2 Green Bus Routes will see an ambitious package of interventions 

delivered along the 10/10A bus route between Liverpool and St Helens, 
including the potential for signal technology upgrades, priority lanes, red 
routes, public realm enhancements and bus stop upgrades, ensuring that 
the City Region‟s most used bus service is a key driver to change travel 
behaviours within the LCR. 

 
3.3.3 In quarter four, work is ongoing to review and baseline the interventions 

which are progressing to Full Business Case stage.  Work is underway to 
update scheme location plans and agree the scope of each intervention 
with the Programme Delivery Group.  Information is also requested from 
Highway Authorities around schemes which are planned for delivery or in 
the pipeline for development which might have an impact on the corridor 
works.  In addition, available procurement routes are being explored with 
partners.     

 
3.3.4 A phased approach is being undertaken with the FBC development and a 

process is underway to define an initial „early wins‟ package which will be 
progressed ahead of more challenging interventions.   

 
3.3.5 Work is continuing with the LCRCA Communications, Marketing & 

Engagement and Government Relations and Public Affairs Teams to 
further develop a communications, public affairs and stakeholder 
engagement plan. 

,  
3.3.6 The HyBus Trial project will see the procurement and introduction of 20 

Hydrogen fuel cell double decker buses along the strategically important 
and heavily used 10/10A bus route. It is intended that the vehicles will be 
owned by the LCRCA and leased to the operators of the route. The 
operators will enter into a fuel supply contract. 

 
3.3.7 Pre-development funding has been provided through TCF to support the 

development of the project.  The funding has been used to secure the 
appointment of both legal and technical consultants. The consultants are 
supporting Merseytravel in the development of a robust model that can be 
used to roll-out further zero emission buses, across the network, in 
partnership with operators.   

 

3.3.8 In quarter four, the project team has been working to complete the Interim 
Full Business Case (FBC) and finalise the technical specification of the 
buses as well as the terms of the purchase agreement.   Non-disclosure 
agreements are in the process of being agreed between Merseytravel, 
Stagecoach and Arriva to protect and control the sharing of data required 
to agree the terms of the lease and to complete models required for the 
financial case.    

Page 12



 
3.3.9 Market engagement activities have taken place with bus manufactures to 

better understand the timescales, skills and maintenance requirements 
connected with the manufacture and operation of the buses. Presentations 
on telematics systems have been received and support the completion of 
the specification of the vehicle   

 
3.3.10 January saw the commencement of a wider network route analysis study 

which will help shape the diesel exit strategy for the bus network and the 
zero-emission delivery plan. The city region wide review of all bus services 
will identify the opportunity, limitations and infrastructure requirements for 
future roll out of both Electric (BEB) and Hydrogen (FCEB) buses, 
collectively, Zero Emission Buses (ZEB).  

 
3.3.11 Although distinct projects, these two complimentary TCF commissioned 

interventions are being taken forward together as it is recognised that 
delivering these projects initially along the same bus route will benefit both 
projects and the wider city region. It will provide a trial project that can be 
evaluated, developed and scaled up.  The bus priority infrastructure and 
allocated road space proposed under Green Bus Routes, will provide the 
connected, punctual and reliable services required for increased 
patronage. This will deliver reductions in Peak Vehicle Requirements 
(PVR) which means that fewer buses will be required to deliver the same 
service. This reduces the capital investment needed for new, high spec, 
zero emission vehicles.  As with all projects within the TCF portfolio, Green 
Bus Routes and HyBus need to be delivered by the deadline of 31 March 
2023   

 
3.4 Bus Reform 
 

3.4.1 Following the LCRCA report of February 2020, which identified 
Franchising as the leading emerging bus reform option to deliver bus 
services in the Liverpool City Region, the project team has been working 
closely with colleagues from across LCRCA and appointed consultants to 
progress the assessment.  

 
3.4.2     In December, four out of the five cases of the Outline Business Case 

(OBC) were completed (to c. 85 percent) and in January were subject to 
an internal review. 

 
3.4.3 The review identified that the assumptions contained within the OBC do 

not fully address the implications of the COVID-19 pandemic on the local 
bus market. Work to address this, alongside completion of the remaining 
elements of the business care will be the immediate focus of the project 
team.   

 
3.4.4     Work has progressed to understand the resourcing requirements that 

would be needed to manage the roles and responsibilities assumed by 
Merseytravel under each of the options and how Merseytravel would 
transition to that new structure.   

 

Page 13



3.4.5     Officers have been developing the outline of a cross boundary permit 
scheme as part of the consideration of the franchising option and a series 
of engagement events with neighbouring local authorities are being 
planned for this quarter to share current thinking. 

 
3.4.6     The second submission of data from operators from across the city region 

has been reviewed with gaps and inconsistencies identified, and work on 
progressing the fleet and depot elements of all options will be completed 
following the culmination of the wider network route analysis study outlined 
in 3.3.10 

 
3.4.7     The 2021/22 budget for the continuation of this assessment has been 

confirmed and is sufficient to continue. The project consultants are to be 
re-engaged at the start of the new financial year following a workshop in 
March and additional resources will be appointed on an interim basis to 
progress requirements gathering as part of the IT Systems work package, 
which it has not as yet been possible to progress in the previous financial 
year due to resource and budget constraints. Details of the revised 
programme will be highlighted to members at a future meeting.  

 
3.5 Liverpool City Centre Connectivity Scheme (LCCC) and Bus Routing  
 

The rerouting of bus services, as a result of Liverpool City Council‟s connectivity 
scheme, was implemented on 24 January 2021. The full impact of the rerouting is 
difficult to gauge in these early weeks, due to the current national lockdown and 
the reduced number of passengers travelling, but the Bus Alliance is committed to 
reviewing ongoing feedback via the normal channels. 
 
The current limited capacity at the City Bus Hub alongside the LCCC construction 
programme has created operational challenges, including buses having to 
circulate the city centre to find space to layover.  Layover time is important to 
regulate the service and ensure on time departures from the city centre bus 
stations. Merseytravel is continuing to work with both the bus operators and 
Liverpool City Council to address the legitimate and understandable concerns 
being raised by local residents and elected members.  
 

As a result of the new bus hub at Old Haymarket Street opening, enhanced 
cleaning is now able to take place for six days each week meaning it is possible to 
provide an additional four hours of cleaning for “on bus” at the location .  This is 
intended to provide a clean environment following the morning peak and will focus 
on high touch areas and removing any obvious items of litter (cans, bottles, 
newspapers etc).  This approach will support the COVID-19-secure measures 
already in place and play a further part in re-assuring the public that buses and the 
transport network are as safe as possible to use.  

 
3.6. Bus Open Data 

 
The Customer Information team are working with the region‟s smaller bus 
operators in a capacity as agent to support their compliance with the open data 
regulations as part of the Bus Services Act 2017.  This ensures that their bus 
route, timetable information and automatic vehicle location (AVL) is made 

Page 14



available in both the DfT open data portal and for third parties approved providers 
such as Google, CityMapper and Moovit to access 
 
A Transport for the North (TfN) sponsored Disruption Messaging Tool is also in 
use enabling developers to access the most up to date disruption information for 
journey planners.  The Customer Information team is working closely with TfN and 
other Local Transport Associations on promoting the use of the information across 
the North. 

 
3.7 Keeping customers informed  

 
The customer information team are in the process of procuring support to review 
the organisation‟s current customer information provision, benchmark against 
other urban areas and make recommendations to improve customer information 
provision, particularly around digital information opportunities. 
 
A specialist agency has also been brought in to support the overhaul of bus 
network maps, in order to provide more useful, attractive and customer friendly 
information about the region‟s bus services.  Initially, a map reflecting the city 
centre changes is being produced, with area network maps and route maps to 
follow and an update on development will be presented in the next quarterly 
update report. 

 
3.8 Travelsafe 
 

Following a period of discussion and negotiation, the continuation of Police 
support to the Travelsafe partnership has been secured for the 2021/22 financial 
year.  Work will shortly commence to review resource requirements and establish 
a longer-term approach from 2022/2023.  As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and it‟s impacts on the transport sector, a one-year interim TravelSafe Strategy 
has been proposed and is under development for 2021/2022. The planned way 
forward will be discussed at the forthcoming Travelsafe board with Members 
updated in a subsequent Quarterly report  

 
3.9 Contract Management Streamlining 
 

The EP Morris (EPM) system is a web-based application which improves 
performance management of Merseytravel‟s bus contracts. All operators, with the 
exception of Arriva, Stagecoach, Selwyns and Warrington‟s Own Buses, have had 
systems built within the application to replace their original software. 
   
Initial feedback from operators on the system has been excellent and data quality 
is significantly improved.  The EPM application is being used by Bus Development 
to produce service specifications and timetables and finance capability is being 
tested before full go-live and the processing of all operator ETM data by end of 
February. Reporting and dashboard development and training will start shortly 
 
We collect accurate loading and ticketing data through the EPM portal, but 
currently this covers only the supported and deminimis services, with a longer-
term vision to expand the scope to handle all bus transactional data.  

 
 

Page 15



3.10 Electric pool vehicles 
 

In line with organisational commitments to improve our environmental impact, 
electric car charging points in Mann Island and Old Haymarket are being installed. 
This will enable the Bus Team‟s full internal service fleet of vans and cars to be 
replaced with electric vehicles.  

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1. Financial 
 
 There are no financial implications resulting from the recommendations of this 

report. 
 

4.2. Human Resources 
 

There are no human resources resulting from the recommendations of this report. 
 
4.3. Physical Assets 
 

There are no implications for physical assets resulting from the recommendations 
of this report. 

 
4.4. Information Technology 
 

There are no implications for information technology resulting from the 
recommendations of this report. 

 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
5.1 The Bus Reform project has been guided by an advisory team of Addleshaw 

Goddard (lead), Price Waterhouse Cooper and Steer and managed by a 
Governance structure lead by the Director of Resources.  

 
5.2 To ensure compliance, the LCRCA‟s Legal and Procurement teams have been 

heavily involved in the reform of the supported bus services contract and remain 
an integral part of the procurement process. 

 
5.3 Separate Risk registers for Green Bus Routes, HyBus and the progression of the 

assessment into alternative delivery models for bus, are maintained and reported 
on regularly and integrated into the corporate risk register. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1 The equality and diversity implications of individual activities have been and will 

continue to be fully considered as part of developing the Bus Alliance Investment 
plans, bus service reviews and considerations as part of the Business Case for 
alternative bus delivery models in alignment with the Bus Services Act 2017. 

 

Page 16



6.2 The increased financial and operational support provided by Merseytravel to 
sustain the network and ensure that 100% of services continue to operate has 
maintained bus connectivity for those who rely on bus services the most. 

 
 
7. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
7.1 The LCR Bus Alliance has a joint communications strategy and the Bus Team 

works closely with colleagues in Corporate Communications and Corporate 
Engagement.  Some of the items mentioned above have been subject to separate 
communications. 

 
7.2 Separate communication and engagement plans are under development for Green 

Bus Routes, HyBus and Bus Reform. 
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
  
 There are no potential privacy implications as a result of the recommendations of 

this report 
 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 

This report has highlighted activities delivered in quarter four of 2020/21 by the 
LCR Bus Alliance, an update on key bus-led projects and an overview of how the 
Bus Team has been maintaining a safe and reliable bus network whilst dealing 
with the challenges of the global COVID-19 pandemic. 

 
 

MATT GOGGINS 
Assistant Director for Bus 

 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Matt Goggins, Assistant Director for Bus, Tel 0151 330 1340 
Laura Needham, Bus Strategy Programme Manager, Tel 0151 330 4568 
Joanna Sawyer, Communications Manager (Transport), Tel 0151 330 1129 
 
Appendices: 
 
None 
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 
 
 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     4 March 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF INTERIM DIRECTOR OF INTEGRATED TRANSPORT 
 

ASSET MANAGEMENT UPDATE MARCH 2021 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 This report is aimed at providing a summary of the key activities undertaken by 

Asset Management during the past 12 months and includes an overview of 
proposed capital works schemes for 2021/22 to support the implementation of the 
Mersey Tunnels Long Term Operations & Maintenance Strategy. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Transport Committee note the contents of the report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1. The details within this report provide an update on key activities undertaken by 

Asset Management during the past 12 months, including measures introduced in 
respect of the Covid-19 pandemic. Also included is an overview of proposed 
capital works for 2021/22 to support the implementation of the Mersey Tunnels 
Long Term Operations & Maintenance Strategy. Asset Management consists of 
three specific areas. Maintenance Delivery, Infrastructure Team and Technical 
Services. 

 
 Maintenance Delivery 
 
3.2. Asset Management’s maintenance teams carried out essential planned 

maintenance to various key assets within the Merseytravel estate. Mersey 
Tunnels, including approach roads and various structures, Mersey Ferries and 
marine infrastructure, six main bus stations, as well as maintaining the fleet of 
tunnels’ police vehicles. These maintenance routines included inspection and 
testing of safety critical systems, such as fire suppression and emergency lighting 
at various locations including the tunnels estates. The teams also provided fault 
and incident response to ensure downtime of critical assets was minimised.   

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



3.3. With the outbreak of Covid-19, and more specifically the national lockdown 
announcements, emergency plans were put in place across all the maintenance 
teams. These measures included implementing a reduced maintenance 
resourcing regime, enabling 50% of staff to remain at home, with the 
understanding that if required, they would be called to attend work if 
circumstances dictated. A review of working practices was undertaken and 
guidelines to promote social distancing and Covid safe working were introduced.   

 
3.4. One area of concern resulting from the Covid-19 situation was provision of the 

Combined Control Centre Engineer (CCCE). This is a critical role with 
responsibility for monitoring the various safety systems associated with the 
tunnels. As a minimum there are 5 full time CCCE’s covering 24 / 7, with additional 
support from within the maintenance teams with trained individuals who can step 
in as and when required, for example covering annual leave or sickness. As an 
additional measure colleagues in IT provided 2 laptops that had been configured 
to allow remote access to the control room tunnels safety systems to be utilised as 
a last resort in the event individuals were self-isolating or shielding, and as such 
could not attend the control room in person.   

 
Infrastructure Team   

 
3.5. Officers in the Infrastructure team have delivered the final stage of the bus priority 

project on the A59 (Black Bull Junction). Completion of this project will improve 
bus journey time and reliability along this key radial bus corridor.   

 
3.6. Through pro-active management, the team were able to continue delivering a high 

level of service in maintaining the 6,200 bus stops across the City Region. This 
was against the backdrop of the Covid-19 pandemic, which impacted on our bus 
shelter partner, Clear Channel UK (CCUK) experiencing significant challenges 
resulting in 80% of their workforce being put on the Government furlough scheme. 

 
3.7. The team continued to work with developers and local authorities to deliver bus 

infrastructure improvements as part of various regeneration projects, delivering 
circa 30 new and improved bus stops. 

 
Technical Services 

 
3.8. The Technical Services team delivered various capital projects, of which a number 

were associated with the Mersey Tunnels, and in line with the tunnels long term 
strategy, and 10 year capital investment programme.   

 
3.9. The following table indicates tunnels capital works delivered or progressed during 

2020/21. The level of investment for tunnels capital works for 2020/21 initially was 
set at £8,035,000. However, due to budget saving requirements, some schemes 
were reviewed resulting in budget reductions, and some non-critical schemes were 
removed from the schedule, to be revisited at a later date. The revised budget was 
set at £6,205,000.    

  

Page 20



 
Scheme Code Scheme Title Scheme Description 
WT124 CCTV Works Completion of CCTV upgrade from 18/19 financial 

year and the innovative trial of a thermal and smoke 
incident detection camera in the Queensway Tunnel. 
Further testing is scheduled and maybe rolled out in 
both Tunnels in 21/22. 

 
WT143 Queensway 

Carriageway 
Soffit Repairs  

The project was to remove damaged concrete from 
the underside of the Queensway road deck. The 
programme was impacted due to COVID-19, 
however, revised systems of work were implemented 
thus delivering this project within the financial year. 

 
WT151  Kingsway 

APPROACH 
Road and 
covered 
approaches 

Due to COVID-19 and the subsequent reduced 
travel levels Asset Management obtained agreement 
from Wirral Council highways to close the outbound 
lanes of Kingsway tunnel to the M53 of an evening. 
This enabled increased greater access for delivery 
and negated traffic management costs. The savings 
enabled additional works for example suicide 
prevention fencing on over-bridges. The project will 
deliver to budget for 20/21 and will continue into 
21/22 as planned. 

 
WT148 Kingsway 

Vauxhall Road 
Regeneration  

Inspections of the concrete ventilation towers have 
been completed and a prioritised action list 
prepared. In addition to these surveys a procurement 
exercise has been undertaken to appoint a 
contractor to remove the excess spoil and fly tipping 
from the site. The additional weight of the spoil may 
have a detrimental impact on the tunnel structure 
hence the need to remove it. The works are planned 
for 20/21 and 21/22 financial years. 

 
WT125 Kingsway 

Replace Sump 
Pump Drainage 
Pipework   

A service tunnel for the new drainage system 
pipework was designed and delivered in the 
Kingsway tunnel ahead of programme and to 
budget. The design of the pipework system has been 
completed and a procurement exercise for a 
contractor will commence shortly.  

 
WT147 Queensway 

Electrical 
Interventions  

 

The tunnel small power system under the road deck 
was re-wired and completed as per programme. 

WT128 Rewire 
Queensway 
Tunnel 
Interventions 

 

The tunnel lighting system under the road deck was 
re-wired and completed as per programme. 

WT127 Vent Station 
Interior 
Refurbishment 
Programme  

 

Scope of requirements developed, a procurement 
process progressed to appoint a contractor to 
undertake concrete repairs in 21/22. 

Page 21



WT149 PA System in QW 
and KW  

Design and procurement completed. A contractor 
has been appointed to deliver a Public Address 
system within both Tunnels. Equipment ordered, site 
surveys undertaken and works scheduled in for 
delivery 20/21 and 21/22. 

 
WT108 Various Tunnel 

Inspections and 
Assessments  

 

Various inspections completed to mitigate against 
developments being constructed near the Tunnels. 

WT145  Queensway Jet 
Fan Electrical 
Installation   

 

Cables to facilitate additional ventilation in the 
Queensway tunnel were installed to programme and 
budget. 

 
 

3.10. The following table indicates capital works schemes scheduled and to be 
progressed for 2021/22. The overall investment for tunnels capital works has been 
set at £7,480,000. 

 
Scheme Code Scheme Title Scheme Description 
WT TBC Delivery of the 

Vehicle Fleet 
Replacement 
strategy 

Delivery of the Asset Management fleet replacement 
programme so that the vehicles are reliable and 
align with the climate emergency agenda. The 
budget will also enable electric charging vehicle 
points to be installed across site. 

 
WT TBC Workshop 

Machinery 
Replacement 

Asset Management workshop machinery 
replacement programme. This budget will enable 
obsolete items to be replaced, compliant with the 
latest standards and implement new technologies. 

 
WT TBC Queensway 

Tunnel Ventilation 
fan control 
replacement 
(@GDB and NJS 
buildings) 

The Queensway Tunnel main ventilation fan 
controllers are no longer supported due to their age 
so when components fail the unit requires replacing 
which impacts on the availability of critical safety 
ventilation systems. Therefore, this replacement 
programme (over a number of years) will enable a 
controlled and planned replacement of the fan 
controllers, generate spares and increase the 
reliability of the ventilation system. 

 
WT127 Kingsway 

Concrete repairs 
and painting 

Following scheduled preventative structure surveys 
and inspections a number of concrete issues have 
been identified. Therefore, this project will repair the 
damaged concrete in the main fan intake shafts of 
Kingsway. This will be a programme of work over 
several years. 

 
WT TBC Queensway 

Tunnel Ventilation 
Infrastructure 
repairs 

Following scheduled preventative structure surveys 
and inspections a number of concrete issues have 
been identified. Therefore, this project will repair the 
damaged concrete / brickwork to the exterior of the 
Queensway ventilation buildings. 

 

Page 22



WT151 Kingsway 
Concrete repairs 
and painting 

Following scheduled preventative structure surveys 
and inspections of the Kingsway Tunnel bridges a 
number of concrete issues have been identified. 
Therefore, this project will repair the damaged areas. 

 
WT148 Kingsway 

Vauxhall Road 
Regeneration 

 

This project is to remove excessive spoil on land 
above the Kingsway Tunnel.  

WT TBC Queensway 
Tunnel Ventilation 
Infrastructure 
repairs 

A number of flat roofs have failed and are leaking. 
Therefore, this project is to relocate the air-
conditioning units to ground level and replace the 
roofs. 

 
WT149 Tunnels Public 

Address System 
Renewal 

The PA system in both Tunnels is classed as a 
safety critical system. Due to the system’s age, 
components are now obsolete. Key components will 
be replaced to ensure that this system is available in 
an emergency. 

 
WT146 Critical Electrical 

Transformer and 
switch gear 
replacement 

 

This project will replace old critical high voltage 
infrastructure associated with the Kingsway Tunnel. 

WT TBC Upgrade of 
Tunnels Police 
mobile radio 
service  

 

This project will implement a new radio solution in 
both tunnels for the Tunnels Police. This is a safety 
critical system. 

WT156 Enabling works 
as part of the 
demolition of the 
Kingsway Tunnel, 
Elevated Control 
Building 

 

This project is to enable the decamping of staff from 
the Elevated Control building which is planned for 
demolition as part of the transport pipeline 
programme. An extension to the existing Kingsway 
plaza building will be constructed in 21/22. 

WT125 Replacement of 
the main water 
discharge 
pipework which 
prevents the 
Kingsway Tunnel 
from flooding 

 

The main discharge pipework in the Kingsway tunnel 
is failing due to its age which has impacts on the 
infrastructure and operation due to the volumes of 
water when being pumped. This project will replace 
the pipework system over two financial years so that 
there is a reliable pumping network. 

WT101 Video Tolling  This project is to implement new technologies and 
innovations which will reduce the revenue budget. 
The implementation of CCTV number plate 
recognition will replace the current aging Fast Tag 
system. 

 
WT127 Queensway 

Tunnel Ventilation 
Infrastructure 
repairs 

Following scheduled preventative structure surveys 
and inspections a number of concrete issues have 
been identified. Therefore, this project will repair the 
damaged concrete / brickwork to the exterior of the 
Queensway ventilation buildings. 

Page 23



WT145 Kingsway Tunnel 
ventilation 
enhancements 

This project will enable the upgrade of the electrical 
switchgear to accommodate additional jet fans in the 
Kingsway Tunnel. 

 
WT124 Tunnels proactive 

Incident Detection 
system 

This project is to implement innovative technologies 
to proactively monitor the tunnels traffic for a range 
of parameters (i.e. heat, stopped vehicles, 
pedestrians, etc). This system will monitor vehicles 
and raise alarms to the Tunnels Police to manage 
accordingly.  

 
WT109 Delivery of the 

Vehicle Fleet 
Replacement 
strategy 

 

Delivery of the Tunnels Police fleet replacement 
programme so that the vehicles and associated 
safety / enforcement equipment is reliable. 

WT143 Queensway 
Tunnel Ventilation 
Infrastructure 
repairs 

Following scheduled preventative structure surveys 
and inspections of the Queensway Tunnel road deck 
a number of concrete issues have been identified. 
Therefore, this project will repair the damaged areas. 

 
WT TBC Kingsway 

Tunnels approach 
road safety 
enhancements 

This project is to develop a design and tender 
documents so that the vehicle restraint system on 
the Kingsway approach roads will be replaced in 
22/23. 

 

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1. Financial 
 

There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.   
 
4.2. Human Resources 
 

There are no HR related issues associated with this report. 
 

4.3. Physical Assets 
 

All physical assets referenced in this report are under maintenance control of 
Asset Management, and as such undergo maintenance regimes to ensure safety, 
reliability and availability for operational use and support the transport 
infrastructure and requirements of the Liverpool City Region.   

 
4.4. Information Technology 
 

There are no issues associated with Information Technology within this report.  
 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 The main risks relate to the continued operation of the Mersey Tunnels as key 

infrastructure assets for the Combined Authority, in respect of safety, availability 

Page 24



and reliability. The tunnels long term strategy aims to mitigate these risks through 
a 10 year targeted maintenance and capital investment programme.    

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

As the report is for notification only and as such does not require any formal 
decisions, an Equality Impact Assessment has not been completed.  

 
 
7. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 

There are no communication issues associated with this report.  
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no privacy implications associated with this report. 
  
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 

This report summarises key activities within Asset Management across the 
Merseytravel estate to inform Members of relevant issues, as well as progress in 
the implementation and delivery of the tunnels long term strategy.     

 
 

SHANE FITZPATRICK 
Interim Director of Integrated Transport 

 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Martin Draper, Head of Asset Management, Tel 0151 330 4500  
Paul Heaton, Maintenance Delivery Manager, Tel 0151 330 4432 
Andrew Cairns, Infrastructure Manager, Tel 0151 330 1584 
Colin Dever, Technical Services Manager, Tel 0151 330 4509 
 
Appendices: 
 
None 
 
Background Documents:  
 
Mersey Tunnels Long Term Operations & Maintenance Strategy – As considered by the 
Transport Committee - Thursday 7 November 2019. 
 
 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     4 March 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM:  No 

 
 

REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR RAIL  
 

CONSULTATION ON MANCHESTER RAIL SERVICES 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 To advise members of the consultation regarding the proposed options for 

changes to rail services across Manchester, the background to why the changes 
are necessary and of the proposed response to the consultation. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is recommended that the Transport Committee: 

 
(a) Note the contents of this report;  
 
(b) Agrees that the response to this consultation is that LCRCA does not 

support any of the 3 options proposed; and 
 
(c) Approve submission of the full response to the consultation as detailed in 

Appendix A. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Following the timetable issues in May 2018 it was identified that the rail services 

across Manchester did not recover punctuality and were persistently suffering from 
delay and poor performance. 

 
3.2 The 2018 timetable issues highlighted that the rail network in Manchester is poorly 

configured for a modern railway with a mainly 2 track rail network and with too 
many points of conflict.  One of the key routes is the Castlefield Corridor the 
section of rail line between Deansgate, Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 
Network Rail, in 2019, declared the Castlefield Corridor to be “congested railway” 
meaning more trains were using the line than it could reliably cope with. 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



3.3 Recognising the issues of rail congestion across Manchester the DfT set up the 
Manchester Taskforce to review the situation and look at options to improve the 
performance of the rail services across Manchester.  

 
3.4 A couple of initial „quick wins‟ were identified by the Taskforce and were 

implemented at the December 2020 timetable change. This involved removing 
from the timetable the peak time Transport for Wales (TfW) services from North 
Wales and Chester via Warrington Bank Quay which often caused delay when 
terminating at Manchester Piccadilly.  

 
3.5 In addition, the taskforce agreed that when Trans Pennine Express reinstated its 

service from Newcastle to Manchester it should terminate at Victoria rather than 
continue round the Ordsall Chord (the section of rail linking Victoria to Oxford 
Road) to the Airport.  

 
3.6 The other accepted change has been to the East Midlands Railway (EMR) 

Liverpool – Norwich service which will be split into two separate services – 
Liverpool to Nottingham and Nottingham to Norwich. Historically, this service has 
performed poorly, as it crosses several congested routes. Splitting the service 
should allow both halves of the service to perform better.  

 

3.7 In order to seek to drive further improvements to train performance and reliability a 
number of further timetable options have been considered and these are now the 
subject of the public consultation. 

 
 
4. CONSULTATION 
 
4.1. On 14 January 2021 the Department for Transport, in conjunction with Manchester 

Taskforce, Transport for the North (TfN) and Network Rail, launched a public 
consultation: “Timetable Options to Improve Rail Performance in the North of 
England” a copy of which is attached in Appendix B. 

 
4.2. The consultation sets out three options which feature a variety of changes to the 

pre-Covid service patterns, planned to be implemented from the May 2022 
timetable. The three options affect a number of rail services which run across key 
city centre stations in Manchester – Victoria, Oxford Road, Manchester Piccadilly, 
and Manchester Airport stations. 

 
4.3. The options have been developed to look at the short to medium term timetable 

solutions to improve performance in Manchester.  Manchester is at the heart of rail 
services in the north and thus the consultation refers to performance 
improvements for the whole of the North of England taking into account the knock 
on delays caused by and to areas outside of Manchester as a consequence of  
services operating through it. 

 
4.4. It is noted that none of these options consider investment in additional capacity on 

the rail network through Manchester as these options are focused on timetable 
changes only.  

 

Page 28



4.5. The options have been developed alongside a set of principles to achieve the 
objective of increasing overall reliability of services for all passengers.  In simple 
terms these principles are: 

 
(a) simplifying and spacing service patterns more evenly 

 
(b) reducing the number of services running on the most congested part of the 

network 
 

(c) separating train movements as far as possible to minimise the amount of 
delay one train may cause on another 

 
4.6. The consultation is seeking views on: 

 
(a) the principles used to develop these options 

 
(b) the details of the options 

 
(c) how any proposed changes may affect people‟s journeys 

 
4.7. There has been considerable engagement between the Manchester Taskforce, 

TfN and LCRCA Officers to discuss the options for improving services across 
Manchester. Throughout these discussions Officers were clear that the basis for 
any changes should be on a robust set of criteria that looked not only on service 
performance and reliability benefits, but also should consider the economic 
impacts and impacts on  passengers – i.e. putting passengers first. 

 
4.8. The consultation now proposes 3 options (a), (b) and (c), with the focus being on 

train performance and reliability. There is little in the analysis on what the impact of 
these changes would be to passengers. Officers see this as a major gap in the 
current proposed options analysis. 

 
4.9. In reviewing the proposed options it is clear that in each option there will be 

negative impacts to the LCRCA and in particular to passengers on the Southport 
line, as in all options they lose their direct service to south Manchester. In light of 
this, officers do not believe that any of the options as currently proposed are 
acceptable. 

 
4.10.  A response to the consultation has been prepared and is detailed in Appendix A. 

 
4.11. The consultation closes on 10 March 2021. 
 
 
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1. Financial 

 
The services affected by this this consultation are not directly funded by 
LCRCA/Merseytravel so no financial impacts from the consultation. 

  

Page 29



5.2. Human Resources 
 

No impacts  
 

5.3. Physical Assets 
 
No Impacts 

 
5.4. Information Technology 
 

No Impacts 
 
 
6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.1 The risk is that in adressing concerns over rail performance that the resulting 

changes to rail servces between Liverpool and Manchester will lead to fewer direct 
services being operated between Liverpool and Manchester. 

 
6.2 In order to mitigate the risk this response is being shared with TfN and local 

Authorities so that we can provide a consistent and coherent response. 
 
 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

The proposed changes would result in fewer direct services leading to passengers 
having to change services and this would be a big impact to passengers with 
reduced mobility.  As a part of the Consultation response is a request that the 
changes be subject to an Equality and Diversity assessment to mitigate any 
impacts. 

 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 

This consultation is being led by the Manchester Task Force so no direct 
communication issues for LCRCA. The draft response will be shared with our local 
authority colleagues and stakeholders to ensure we give a co-ordinated and 
consistent response to the consultation. 

 
 
9. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 No Impacts 
 
 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1. The Transport Committee is to note the consultation that is now going ahead 

regarding options to change the timetable of trains across Manchester.  
 
10.2. A draft response to the consultation has been prepared which will be circulated to 

Local Authority colleagues and is detailed in Appendix A. 

Page 30



 
10.3. The deadline for submission of responses to the consultation is 10 March 2021. 
 
 

WAYNE MENZIES 
Assistant Director for Rail 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Tony Killen, Rail Development Advisor, Tel 07912 774 050 
Sawyer, Joanna, Corporate Communications Manager, Tel 0151 330 1129 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A – Consultation on Manchester Rail Service Changes response by the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
 
Appendix B - Manchester Recovery Task Force Public Consultation  
 
Background Documents:  
 
None 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 
 
 

MANCHESTER RECOVERY TASK FORCE PUBLIC CONSULTATION 
RESPONSE BY THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 
 

Executive Summary 
 
 

1. The consultation proposes 3 options for timetable change for rail services across 
Manchester, none of which are acceptable to the LCRCA, given the changes and 
disruption that would adversely impact LCRCA rail passengers. 

 
2. In particular, all 3 options remove the key services from Southport to Manchester 

Piccadilly which is totally unacceptable. This service was removed from the 
timetable back in May 2018 and was reinstated in December 2019 following a 
detailed and evidence based campaign.  
 

3. The analysis and proposed options are focused on addressing rail performance and 
reliability and it is a major gap in the analysis that previous work on justifying rail 
services on the Southport line has not been considered.  

 
4. In addition, the other main issue which needs to be noted is that any timetable 

change should be recognised as being only a short-term, pragmatic solution, but 
not a long term sustainable solution.  
 

5. There needs to be another workstream to deliver additional rail capacity across 
Manchester, otherwise the rail network serving Manchester will never be able to 
reliably deliver the level of services required. 
 
Context to the LCR  

 
6. The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority welcomes the opportunity to 

respond to this consultation on the longstanding issues of poor reliability and 
punctuality of train services through the central Manchester corridor.  This is 
important and timely in supporting the acceleration of sustainable, inclusive 
economic recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, and in support of longstanding 
rebalancing and decarbonisation objectives. This response is submitted by the 
Mayor of the Liverpool City Region, on behalf of the Combined Authority. It was 
considered by the Combined Authority’s Transport Committee on 4 March 2021. 

 
7. The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) was established in 2014 

and Steve Rotheram became the City Region’s first directly elected Metro Mayor in 
2017. It brings together Liverpool City Region’s six local authorities: Halton, 
Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton, St Helens and Wirral, and draws on powers and funds 
made available through the Devolution Deal, including strategic transport planning; 
economic development and regeneration; housing and spatial planning; 
employment and skills; and a consolidated multi-year funding package.  

 
 
 

Page 33



 
The importance of enhanced rail provision to the LCR 

 
8. The LCRCA’s goal is to drive prosperity, encourage innovation and expand 

opportunities for people and communities in every part of the city region. It will do 
this by becoming a clean, healthy and net zero carbon-emitting city region by 2040, 
delivering on the long-term opportunities set out in our Local Industrial Strategy, and 
our vision for a globally competitive, environmentally responsible, socially inclusive 
economy; addressing health, inequality and the climate emergency are mission 
critical to achieving this vision.  Allied to this is the LCRCA’s close relationship, and 
support for the work of Transport for the North and the vision for rail being 
developed sub-nationally.   

 
9. The role of rail, and enhanced rail connectivity both within and between cities is 

vital, and is well documented in The Northern Powerhouse Independent Economic 
Review developed by Transport for the North in 2016.  For example, this highlights 
the longstanding economic gap between North and rest of UK, but that by 2050, a 
transformed North could see a 4% increase in productivity and increase in GVA of 
almost £100 bn and up to 850,000 new jobs.  This will be supported by growth in 
North’s ‘prime’ capabilities, supported by ‘enabling’ capabilities, but also 
agglomeration effects arising from faster connections between areas of 
employment.  Enhanced transport connectivity is critical to support this, both 
between and within cities. This principle was supported further in the National 
Infrastructure Commission’s 2018 National Infrastructure Assessment, amongst 
others. 
 

10. The Liverpool City Region (LCR) is home to 1.6 million people (with an overall travel 
to work area of 2.5 million people) and 50,000 businesses, contributing £33.6bn 
GVA, including a number of globally significant business. Its strong assets include 
its westward-facing port, high-performing computing capabilities and low carbon 
energy potential.  Additionally, there are over 58,000 students in Higher Education, 
and Liverpool, recognised as a Core City, is the 6th most visited city in UK by 
overseas visitors.  

 
11. In understanding the importance of the Liverpool-Manchester corridor, it would be 

helpful to consider the net travel to work flows between city regions across the 
north, which highlights that the busiest flows are between LCR and Greater 
Manchester (with 14% of the displayed net flows between Greater Manchester and 
West Yorkshire being flows coming from/to LCR), and between Sheffield City 
Region and West Yorkshire 

 

Page 34

https://www.transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/Northern-Powerhouse-Independent-Economic-Review-Executive-Summary.pdf
https://www.transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/Northern-Powerhouse-Independent-Economic-Review-Executive-Summary.pdf
https://nic.org.uk/studies-reports/national-infrastructure-assessment/


 
 
12. In the Liverpool City Region, especially now in a COVID-19 recovery context, the 

need for enhanced rail connectivity to support the low carbon ‘levelling up’ agenda 
is made even more urgent.  This recognises the very significant and very harmful 
impacts of the COVID-19 on the LCR, linked to the nature of its economic base and 
related socio-economic challenges.  This is articulated within the Economic 
Recovery Plan that reiterates the firm belief that the long-term opportunities set out 
in our Local Industrial Strategy still exist, encompassing a vision for a globally 
competitive, environmentally responsible, socially inclusive economy remains still 
valid.   
 

13. Addressing health, inequality and the climate emergency are critical to achieving 
this vision, and the role of a clean, efficient urban and inter-city transport network is 
key to this, even allowing for the different, and more flexible and remote ways in 
which people are very likely to work in the future in a post-COVID world. 

 
14. The freight and logistics sector is vitally important sector to the LCR, in terms of its 

contribution to economic rebalancing, and as such has huge relevance to the 
Liverpool Manchester corridor. The opening of the Liverpool2 deep water container 
terminal, a £340 million in-river container terminal, allows vessels of up to 13,500 
TEU to call at the Port of Liverpool. Adding 600,000 TEU per annum capacity to the 
port’s current 1.5m TEU per annum capacity, it trebles port capacity and is capable 
of handling 95% of the world’s container vessels. But the Port’s growth remains 
hampered by rail capacity and connectivity barriers, and there are major problems 
with moving freight by Rail.  

 
15. A prime example is the Drax biomass fired power station near Leeds which can 

process up to 12m tonnes of biomass a year, which is delivered by up to 14 trains 
per day. Biomass, in the form of compressed wood pellets, is imported via the Port 
through a £100m custom built import terminal and transported by rail to the Drax 
plant. But because of insufficient capacity, and a lack of gauge-cleared route, each 

Page 35

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_BBB_2020.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA_BBB_2020.pdf


train generally takes over seven hours, and often as long as 10 hours, to travel the 
90 miles across the Pennines.  

 
16. The context above is a fundamental preface to the response that follows on the 

proposals to make best and most effective use of the congested rail corridor in the 
Manchester area, and the heavy, mixed use traffic that it accommodates.  The 
creation of additional rail capacity is vital in addressing the root cause of the 
problem, linked to the LCRCA’s clear vision for rail as set out above.  Managing 
demand on the corridor is a short-term, pragmatic solution, but not a long term 
sustainable solution. 

 
17. With this context in mind, the more detailed responses to the questions posed in the 

consultation are set out as follows:- 
 
 

Response to consultation questions 
 
 

Question 1: Do you support the aim of standardising and simplifying service 
patterns if this will significantly improve overall train performance? 
 

18. LCRCA welcomes timetable changes that both support standardising and 
simplifying service patterns so long as they do achieve a significant improvement in 
overall train performance. 

 
19. However, it is important to recognise that the review does not start from a clean 

sheet and that current service patterns and use need to be taken into account when 
reviewing potential changes. Modifying services to enhance performance can have 
a detrimental effect on journeys already being made and this needs to be taken into 
account 

 
20. The issue with the changes proposed within these options is whether they will 

achieve a significant reduction in delay.  

 
18 Option A will on average achieve a reduction in average delay of 30 seconds, 

Option B a reduction of 42 seconds and Options C, which removes the most 
services from the timetable, achieves an average reduction of delay of 54 seconds 
per train.  

 
19 We need to be sure that any final decision balances the effects of the change with 

the benefit gained. From this analysis we are expecting passengers to accept fewer 
trains, with a relatively small gain in train punctuality and reliability. 

Page 36



 
20 We note that this reduction in delay is based on an analysis of off-peak services 

and welcome that the next stage will look in more detail on the benefits achieved 
during the peak time. 

 
21 Also the simplification of the proposed timetables reduces the travel options for 

passengers for direct services to a number destinations - such as reducing the 
number of direct services to Manchester Airport and introduces the need for 
passengers to change services. 

 
22 The notes state that the change at Piccadilly will not require changing platforms, but 

one of the congestion issues pre Covid was overcrowding on platforms 13 & 14 
leading to increasing platform dwell times at Piccadilly station. Will there be 
sufficient space for passengers to comfortably wait between services – especially 
as Piccadilly has no waiting rooms on the platforms. In addition there needs to be 
provision for additional staffing to assist passengers who need to transfer between 
trains. 

 
23 Whilst each train may run more reliably, the impact of requiring to change trains will 

mean overall journey times for those longer distance passengers will increase. Also 
there is no assessment as to the ease of changing trains especially for passengers 
of reduced mobility, which could be an issue for passengers who would have to 
change at Victoria or Salford Crescent.  

 
24 We would recommend therefore that before any final decision is made, and a final 

option selected that the changes are subject to an Equality and Diversity Impact 
Assessment.  

 
25 There is no detail in the consultation as to the impact of passengers having to 

change trains at Salford Crescent or Victoria to get to Oxford Road, Piccadilly and 
stations to Alderley Edge and what this would mean to the increase in overall 
journey time that they would experience. 

 
26 In order to mitigate these delays is there potential to create a more frequent and 

seamless interchange through improvements to local transport links by way of 
enhanced bus services and tram services between Victoria, Oxford Road and 
Piccadilly, particularly at peak times. 

 
27 Simplifying rail services to reduce rail congestion means that a number of services 

that arrive to the north of Manchester will lose connection to south Manchester – 
such as the services that operates from Southport to Alderley Edge via Oxford 
Road and Manchester Piccadilly.  

 
28 Effectively removing the Southport-south Manchester link to make the timetable 

work, disadvantages a large number of current users. Further details on the 
previous evidence to support Rail services from Southport to South Manchester is 
detailed in Annex 1. 
 

 
 

Page 37



Question 2: Do you support the approach of measuring the service level and 
performance impacts across all passengers to allow fair trade-offs between 
options? 

 
29 Yes, there needs to be a consistent and transparent methodology when assessing 

the proposed changes. 
 

30 However, the proposed changes are not acceptable to the Liverpool City Region. 
The loss of the Southport-south Manchester link is too much of a negative. The 
need for this service has been clearly demonstrated which is why it was re-
introduced. No such work to has been undertaken to other services and yet this 
service is not included within any of the options. 

 
31 Within the consultation the assessment has focussed mainly on the impacts the 

changes will make in terms of train performance and train reliability and the analysis 
does not address other considerations.  
 

32 Whilst train reliability is a concern for passengers there are other issues to consider 
such as the economic impacts of any change and the number of passengers 
impacted by any change as well as the impact of increased journey time for those 
passengers who lose their direct services. 

 
33 In addition there is a need to consider ability for passengers to get a seat on a train. 

In December 2019 prior to Covid, many passengers were unable to be seated as 
trains were so packed. Before any change is implemented there needs to be further 
consideration as to whether the revised services having sufficient seating capacity 
for expected passenger numbers. 

 
34 It is likely that future passengers will avoid a return to overcrowded services and 

expected passenger growth due to improved reliability may be constrained by lack 
of seats on the remaining services. 

 
35 Without lengthening trains the ability to grow passenger numbers as we rebuild the 

economy will be significantly constrained. This will require an assessment not only 
of the train services and rolling stock availability, but also that every affected station 
will have platforms long enough to accommodate lengthened trains. 

 
36 This issue of capacity is also relevant in respect that the consultation also gives no 

timeline for the re-instatement of those services that are taken out of the timetable. 
It is likely that it will be several years until the required infrastructure works are 
complete to allow the services to return and be incorporated into a new robust and 
reliably timetable. 

 
 

Question 3:  On the basis of these results, which is your preferred option? 
 

37 The consultation proposes 3 options for timetable change for rail services across 
Manchester, none of which are acceptable to the LCRCA given the changes and 
disruption that would impact on LCRCA rail passengers. 
 

38 Option A achieves a reduction in train delays with the minimum number of trains 
removed from the timetable, but the LCRCA would require that the Southport 

Page 38



services retain their direct link to Piccadilly. This service has been reviewed in the 
recent past and the justification for the service has been made, to see it arbitrarily 
cut again is surprising.  

 
39 We do not support Options B and C which would result in all stopping services 

terminating at Warrington as this would significantly increase overall journey for 
those passengers who would have to interchange at Warrington. We would seek to 
retain the existing hourly stopping service but would welcome the addition of a 
further stopping service Liverpool – Warrington to provide half hourly services 
between Warrington and Liverpool. 

 
40 It is also difficult to support Options B and C and the removal of further services, 

given the relatively small marginal performance benefits that are achieved, i.e. with 
only a further 12 seconds improvement for option B and 24 seconds improvement 
for option C. Again these are benefits modelled off peak and we still need to 
understand the benefit that would be achieved during the peak. 

 
 

Question 4: Please provide your views on the details of the proposed 
changes which are detailed by route in the Appendix. 

 
 

Option A 
 

41 Chester loses its direct service to Manchester Piccadilly and Manchester Airport 
and instead goes via Manchester Victoria and terminates in Stalybridge. This will 
now introduces a need for North Wales and Chester passengers to have to change 
trains at Victoria with the timetable having fewer direct services from Victoria to 
Manchester Airport.  
 

42 This could result in passengers requiring more than one change of train to get to the 
Airport from a service that was direct.  

 
43 The Liverpool to Crewe all stations stopping service (via Manchester Piccadilly) 

terminates at Manchester Airport. A separate service then provides a stopping 
service between Manchester Piccadilly and Crewe. This change does retain a 
service from Liverpool direct to the Airport and is welcomed. 

 
44 1 train per hour from Southport is diverted away from Manchester 

Piccadilly/Alderley Edge, instead running to Manchester Victoria. As stated earlier 
this takes away direct services from passengers on the Southport line to Oxford 
Road and Piccadilly. The service has been justified in the past and should not be 
withdrawn again. In fact none of the 3 options retain a regular link from Southport to 
South Manchester apart from a peak service to Oxford Road in Option C. 

 
45 1 train per hour from Kirkby to Manchester Victoria runs on to Blackburn. This 

change removes a train having to turn back at Victoria and so is understandable.  

 

46 Again there needs to be checks that the additional route from Victoria to Blackburn 
does not introduce delays which could compromise network performance at City 
Centre stations.  

 

Page 39



Option B 

 

47 The services from Southport and Chester are again timetabled to Victoria rather 
than Manchester Oxford Road & Piccadilly. As above consideration needs to be 
given as to the options for passengers are to make their way to Oxford Road and 
Piccadilly, especially Persons of Reduced Mobility or carrying luggage. 

 

48 This proposed option introduces both positive and negative impacts for the 
Liverpool to Manchester services via Warrington Central. Under this proposal there 
will be 2 stopping services per hour between Warrington and Liverpool. This will 
give a regular half hourly service to a number of stations which are currently poorly 
served such as West Allerton and Mossley Hill, which is to be welcomed. 

 

49 However for passengers from these intermediate stations who travel to onwards to 
Manchester this does now introduce a break in their journey at Warrington. 

 

50 The splitting of the direct Liverpool-Manchester Offord Road service is a surprise. 
There are considerable cross-Warrington flows using this service and in effect those 
passengers will be forced to unnecessarily interchange at Warrington. As there is 
no reduction in services into Manchester Oxford Road (a Warrington- Manchester 
Oxford Road service remains) this needs to be reviewed. 

 

51 Off peak there would be only one stopping service between Warrington and 
Manchester Oxford Road, though this is increased to 2 stopping services during the 
peak. We know that pre-Covid Warrington was a very busy station and we need to 
ensure that where passengers interchange at Warrington, the onward connections 
to Manchester, are able to accommodate expected passenger numbers, without 
overcrowding and timed to minimise waiting time at Warrington. 

 

52 We also welcome a fast and semi fast linking Liverpool to Cleethorpes and 
Nottingham, giving a half hourly fast service to Manchester. We note the proposal 
for the Liverpool – Cleethorpes to stop at additional stations of Birchwood Irlam and 
Urmston. Could consideration be given to these services in addition to calling at 
LSP also alternate with stops at our larger stations of Hunts Cross and Widnes. 

 

53 We note the retention of the stopping service Liverpool to Manchester airport on the 
Chat Moss route (via Earlestown and Newton-le-Willows) and note that it no longer 
carries forward on to Crewe. 

 

 

Option C 

 

54 Again this option removes the Southport to Alderley Edge services but we note it 
does Includes for a peak time service Southport – Oxford Road. The LCR believes 
this service should run all day and should run through to Piccadilly. 

 

55 The Chester Service is also changes to go via Victoria, again losing a direct 
connection to Manchester Airport. 

 

Page 40



56 In addition to the above comments we also note that the Liverpool to Crewe service 
via the Chat Moss is reduced to a Liverpool to Oxford Road service, again reducing 
direct services to Manchester Airport and Piccadilly. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority  
3 March 2021 

 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 41



Annex 1 
 
Previous Evidence to support Rail Services Southport – South Manchester  
 

 

The Southort – Manchester Piccadilly service was take out of the timetable in May 2018 

and this was challenged by users of the service. A detailed evidence based submission 

justified the re-instatement of the service back into the December 2019 timetable. At the 

time the evidence, based on repeated passenger surveys and counts, and train operator 

travel data included:- 

 

a) Journeys to Manchester are destination specific to one of the five city centre 

stations for reasons of work, business, study, health, leisure and in the case of 

Piccadilly connections to rest of the country. 

b) Over 70% of passengers boarding a train west of Wigan will be travelling to one 

of those destinations with over 60% (almost two thirds) needing to get to the 

south side.  

c) Although purpose of travel differs the split applies through the day it is not just a 

commuter issue. E.g. in the peak it was found that around 21% travelled to 

Piccadilly and this proportion increases off peak. 

d) An independent survey by AECOM in 2016 concluded that over 72% of those on 

an Airport service would be impacted if it was withdrawn. It also requested post 

code of ultimate destination, e.g. workplace, appointment location etc and the 

largest clustering was south of the Castlefield corridor with few going to locations 

where they could easily use Victoria. 

e) Aggregated with those joining at Wigan, Hindley and Westhoughton means that 

the journeys for well over 25% of passengers travelling along what is rightly 

identified as the critical ‘Bolton corridor’ to the south side of Manchester 

originated on the Southport – Westhoughton line significant because the Bolton 

corridor is limited now and going forward to 4 tph through to the south side.  

f) This was 860 of 3100 passengers in a typical day peak and over 900 of 3500 

passenger on a busy day. 

 
 

Page 42



 

  

 

 

 

 
   

   
     

     
      

   
    

     
   

    
  

   
     

     
     

   

   
   

     
    

 

     
  

   
     
     

       
 

  
   

      
     

   
 

  

Manchester Recovery Task Force 

Public Consultation 

Summary 
1. This consultation is seeking views from the public and stakeholders on rail 

timetable work that has been undertaken during 2020 to address the poor 
performance of the rail network in the Manchester area which has been the 
source of much train delay on rail services across the whole north of 
England since late 2017. The consultation will inform decisions to be 
made in Spring 2021 on potential changes to the passenger timetable that 
would be implemented from May 2022. 

2. This consultation document sets out the objectives of the work and 
explains how options have been considered and assessed.  It asks for 
views on the principles for the work.  It also sets out the type of changes 
that are being considered. 

3. Passengers have been experiencing poor performance to, from and 
through central Manchester for too long. The key objective of this work 
has been to find timetable-based solutions for making performance much 
better. Better performance in the Manchester area will have far reaching 
beneficial impacts across the north of England rail network. 

4. There has been some important investment in the region over the last ten 
years, including the Ordsall Chord (linking Manchester Victoria to 
Deansgate), the redevelopment of Victoria station, electrification of lines 
and the introduction of new rolling stock, allowing the withdrawal of the 
Pacer trains. 

5. In addition, there have been increases in train service frequency and 
connectivity secured through the franchising process.  Although very 
welcome, this has put greater demands on the whole network, particularly 
the congested 2-track railway which runs through Manchester Piccadilly 
and Deansgate via Manchester Oxford Road, known as the Castlefield 
Corridor. This has consequently pushed the railway beyond the point at 
which it can operate reliably. 

6. Performance issues relating to the infrastructure being unable to cope with 
the planned frequency of trains are not unique to Manchester, with similar 
reliability issues being found across the railway network in the north, and 
elsewhere in the Britain. The first step of resolving some of the structural 
timetable issues around Manchester will have knock-on positive impacts 
across the wider north of England. 

1 | P a g e Page 43



 

  

 

    
     

  
     
      

     
 

      
   

 
    

   
 

     
  

     
   

  
    

    
  

   

    

      
     

  
  

  

    
 

 

   
  

7. This timetable work is therefore the starting point from which we can build 
resilience and reliability. The rail industry is also developing a long-term 
vision for the network, infrastructure and train services in the region, 
including ways in which additional services can be introduced reliably in 
the future. The vision is exploring which infrastructure schemes around 
Manchester will best help unlock capacity, improved connectivity and 
support economic growth in the longer term. 

8. This work and the consultation are concerned with the shorter-term trade-
offs between competing demands on the rail network to deliver the best 
possible overall service.  Making trade-offs requires balancing the 
requirements of some against those of others.   Because the outcome of 
these trade-offs may affect passenger journey opportunities, we want the 
public, passengers and stakeholders to have the opportunity to comment 
on the options that are under consideration. In all cases, we are aiming to 
improve overall train performance so that everyone has a better journey. 

9. Although the COVID-19 pandemic is currently dominating everybody’s life, 
it is important to do all we can to ensure that when everyone is able to 
travel freely again the railway offers them a reliable and dependable 
service.  Over recent years, this has not often enough been the case. The 
railway must and will continue to play a key role in supporting the 
economic recovery, helping communities to reconnect and rebuild, and to 
play its part in supporting the move to a zero-carbon economy. 

10. This consultation does four things: 

• Explains the problem we are trying to solve, how we have developed 
the three main options and how they are being assessed. The 
consultation document contains technical explanations and 
information which is intended to help respondents understand how 
we have done this. 

• Explains the trade-offs and seeks views on them. 
• Explains the detail of the options and their possible impacts on 

different routes into Manchester and seeks views on them. 

• Sets out next steps. 

2 | P a g e Page 44



 

  

 

 
    

      
       

    
  

 

 

       
 

  
   

 
      

 
 

  
 

   
 

 

 
  

 

  

   

Manchester Recovery Task Force 
11. The Manchester Recovery Task Force was set up in January 2020 to 

address the unacceptable levels of train performance in the north west of 
England. Performance fell sharply following the forced1 late change to the 
May 2018 timetable. The poor implementation of this change and the 
chaos it caused was subject of its own inquiry2 and led the Government to 
undertake a more fundamental reform of the railway under the leadership 
of Sir Keith Williams, whose review is now expected to be published in 
early 2021. 

12. The May 2018 timetable was not just poorly executed, it also added more 
trains to the central Manchester network.  This meant that even when the 
implementation issues were rectified, performance levels recovered only 
marginally, suggesting continued structural issues with the timetable3. The 
graph below shows the performance for Northern and TransPennine 
Express (TPE) and Great Britain services overall, over the last seven years. 
The drop in 2018 is clear, followed by a small recovery, which then stalls 
until the recent improvement caused by the reduction in services and 
passengers due to the pandemic.  Note that the figures are for Northern as 
a whole. 

Graph showing historic train performance for Northern and TPE services 
compared to Great Britain overall 

1 The forced late change was due to the delay in the electrification of the Bolton line which then in turn required a short 

notice change in planned use of diesel trains throughout the Manchester area 
2 https://www.orr.gov.uk/search-news/orr-inquiry-concludes-passengers-let-down-rail-industry-failures 
3 The work of the Task Force has been based on pre-pandemic performance, capacity and demand 

3 | P a g e Page 45

https://www.orr.gov.uk/search-news/orr-inquiry-concludes-passengers-let-down-rail-industry-failures


 

  

 

      
      
    

  
    

   
   

    
 

        
  

  
    

 
    

 
   

 

     
     

     
    

     
     

    
 

  

 
 

 

13. The Castlefield Corridor infrastructure in central Manchester was declared 
‘congested’ by Network Rail in 2019. The official designation of the area as 
‘congested’ formally acknowledges that the infrastructure is not able to 
deliver all the train service frequency requirements being demanded of it, 
resulting in repeated and regular poor performance. In practice, the 
designation of ‘congested infrastructure’ means that Network Rail must 
work with Train Operators and other industry partners to devise a 
timetable that can deliver a level of performance upon which the travelling 
public can reasonably depend4. 

14. The Manchester Recovery Task Force is made up of industry and 
stakeholder representatives from the Department of Transport, Network 
Rail, Northern, TransPennine Express, Transport for the North and 
Transport for Greater Manchester.  It is the first to include such wide 
representation to address a congested infrastructure issue.  Its aim has 
been to work collaboratively through difficult problems together with the 
purpose of delivering the best possible outcomes achievable for 
passengers and provides a model for how the industry should work going 
forward. 

15. The Task Force has looked at the timetable from first principles to develop 
a timetable structure will support better performance by design. Work has 
progressed during the year to develop timetable options for 
consideration, and to assess carefully how these options would improve 
the overall reliability of the network as well as the impact they would have 
on passengers. Work will continue to refine these options and to confirm 
the operational feasibility and business case of each one in parallel with 
this consultation. 

4 https://www.networkrail.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Management-of-Congested-Infrastucture-Code-of-
Practice.pdf 

4 | P a g e Page 46

https://www.networkrail.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Management-of-Congested-Infrastucture-Code-of


 

  

 

  
    

   
  

    
   

      
    
       

     
    

   

   
  

   
   

 

      
    

  
  

  

  
   

   
   

     
 

  
 

 
   

 

     
  

   
      

   
    

  

 

 

Impact of COVID-19 
16. The impacts of the COVID pandemic have been far-reaching and are likely 

to be felt for many years.  During the pandemic, timetables have been 
altered several times.  These changes have been made to accommodate 
operational restrictions resulting from the requirements for social 
distancing and staff availability whilst maintaining a level of service to 
support essential travel. Services are running at a lower level than before 
the pandemic, and passenger numbers – although having picked up 
during the summer - are understandably still low. For example, the current 
timetable has 12 trains per hour running each way on the Castlefield 
corridor compared with the pre-COVID December 19 timetable of up to 
15 trains per hour each way. 

17. It is not particularly unexpected that these circumstances have allowed 
train performance to improve.  Even though things are less busy, this 
improvement in performance is testament to the dedication and 
commitment of railway colleagues who have been continuing to provide 
essential services throughout the pandemic. 

18. This has led to some discussion as to whether the changes under 
consideration are still needed, given that performance is so much better, 
and it may take some time for passenger demand to recover from the 
pandemic.  The Task Force is strongly of the opinion that they are.  There 
are three important reasons for this: 

• The current infrastructure cannot reliably deliver the (pre-COVID) 
timetable.  This has not changed despite the pandemic and putting 
the previous timetable back with the number and pattern of trains 
there had been, is not an option. 

• It is sensible to plan and make changes to the timetable whilst fewer 
people are travelling by rail. 

• Although it may take some time, it is imperative that we attract and 
encourage passengers back to the railway when the time is right.  We 
must be ready for them with a robust and reliable timetable, and with 
sufficient capacity to ensure that rail remains attractive and 
competitive compared to other modes. 

19. Making any changes in the railway takes a lot of planning and time to 
implement.  This is because the consequences of change are far reaching 
and complex. After plans have been made and agreed, working through 
the full resource implications takes a long time. Major timetable re-casts 
take years to develop and implement, especially if recruitment and training 
of staff is required.  Changes of the order we are talking about here will be 
implemented from May 2022 at the earliest. 

5 | P a g e Page 47



 

  

 

 
     

 
  

    
   

    
   

      
  

  
  

   

  
 

     
  

     
    

  
     

      
     

    

   
     

    
    
   

   

      
    

      
     

     
 

  

Initial first steps 
20. A couple of initial ‘quick wins’ were identified by the taskforce and were 

implemented at the December 2020 timetable change.  This involved 
Transport for Wales (TfW) services from North Wales and Chester via 
Warrington Bank Quay which often caused delay when terminating at 
Manchester Piccadilly.  From December the service moved to a common 
all-day pattern of running through to Manchester Airport. Although this 
has meant the loss of an additional peak service, station stopping patterns 
have been adjusted to ensure there is sufficient capacity for passengers for 
Chester and North Wales in the peak. 

21. In addition, the taskforce agreed that when TransPennine Express 
reinstated its service from Newcastle to Manchester it should terminate at 
Victoria rather than continue round the Ordsall Chord to the Airport. 

22. Separately, following the East Midlands franchise competition in 2018/19, 
it was decided that the East Midlands Railway (EMR) Liverpool – Norwich 
service will be split into two separate services – Liverpool to Nottingham 
and Nottingham to Norwich.   Historically, this service has performed 
poorly, as it crosses several congested routes.  Splitting the service should 
allow both halves of the service to perform better.  It will also allow each to 
develop separately given the different markets and passenger volumes 
served either side of Nottingham. This split is currently planned for 
December 2021 or May 2022. The planned transfer of the Nottingham to 
Liverpool section to TransPennine Express has been put on hold due to the 
pandemic, so East Midlands Railway will continue to run the service. 

23. Finally, changes in rolling stock intended to improve performance, are 
expected over the next couple of years. Both Transport for Wales and East 
Midlands Railway are planning to replace trains with doors at the end of 
carriages with those that have doors along the carriage.  This will help 
speed up passenger boarding and alighting, which can sometimes 
contribute to delay on very busy services. 

24. The other key work progressing is the future service pattern on the East 
Coast Mainline. Decisions emerging from this work may impact on the 
service patterns from the North East and Yorkshire to Manchester and 
Liverpool.  The Manchester Recovery Task Force work is based on the 
existing service patterns.  These could change in the future, and the two 
projects are working closely to ensure their conclusions are compatible. 

6 | P a g e Page 48



 

  

 

 
 

    
      

 
        

    
      

   
     

  

      
    

    
 

    
    

  
    

   
        

  
    

  
  

    
   

    
  
 

 
     
  

  

Manchester’s railway geography 

25. The railway geography in the Manchester area is complicated. Following 
its dominance as a mode of transport from the end of the 19th to the post-
war period, rail travel declined as the era of the car and motorway took 
over. The configuration of the network is partly the result of history, partly 
the result of rationalisation following railway decline, and partly the result 
of investment over recent decades. This recent investment has facilitated 
passenger growth, but the investment has not been systematic, meaning 
that investment in one place has sometimes exposed bottlenecks and 
weaknesses elsewhere. 

26. There are several characteristics of the current configuration that pose 
particular challenges when planning services. They are: 

• The two main stations (Piccadilly and Victoria) are a mile apart and do 
not offer a particular easy walking interchange. 

• The only north-south heavy rail link via the recently opened Ordsall 
Chord crosses several junctions – although it did help relieve crossing 
movements south of Piccadilly as intended. 

• Most approaches into Manchester are two track railways. 

• Unlike many railways around London these two track railways are 
mixed use – i.e. long distance, inter-regional and local passenger as 
well as some freight services. 

• Passenger services use many different types of rolling stock with 
doors in different places, extending the station dwell times needed 
for passenger boarding and alighting. 

• Long distance and airport trains often convey passengers unfamiliar 
with travelling by rail. Significant numbers of passengers with 
luggage can also be difficult to manage in a mixed environment that 
is busy with regular travellers and commuters. 

The diagram below gives a simplified picture of the railway lines in Central 
Manchester. Not all lines are shown, but the diagram does give an 
indication of the junction complexity. 

7 | P a g e Page 49



 

  

 

 
 

   
      

   
 

  
    

    
     

 

       
 

     
  

  
 

    
  

    
     

  
    

    
       

  
    

Simplified diagram of railway stations, lines and junctions in central 
Manchester 

Over recent years, the growth of rail use and the increase in services has 
meant that train operators have increased the range and frequency of 
services on offer, particularly with the new TransPennine Express and 
Northern franchises which commenced in April 2016.  Although this has 
been with the best intentions of offering passengers choice and 
convenience – intentions that have been fully supported by funders and 
stakeholders alike – the extent to which the infrastructure has been able to 
manage the demands placed on it has been pushed beyond breaking 
point. 

27. To maximise the capacity of any transport system, the best way is to have 
no junctions, and everyone travelling at the same speed.  Think of the 
50mph limit on motorways when there is congestion. The equivalent on a 
rail network is to have dedicated services doing the same thing with the 
same stops with as few junctions and crossovers as possible.  Most 
underground networks are planned and built in this way.  Uniformity 
across the board is the most reliable way to get maximum capacity for a 
particular network. 

28. Very few rail networks have the fortune of being exactly suitable for the 
requirements the travelling public in the 21st century. There always needs 
to be a degree of compromise between the requirements of commuters 
versus long-distance travellers; those who want fast services versus other 
who want more stops at their station; those who want their service to go via 
one route, versus those via another; those who want a seat versus those 
who would prefer more standing space so there is room to get on the train 
further down the line. Making these compromises or trade-offs is a key 

8 | P a g e Page 50



 

  

 

  
 

  
  

       
      

   
   

  

     
  

  
      

       
  

    
   

  

      
      

  
     

 
  

  
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

element of how railway services are assessed, and we come back to this 
later. 

29. When the demands placed on the network become too high, the 
performance of everyone’s journey is affected, because the knock-on 
effects of normal minor day-to-day disruption – which Network Rail and 
train operators aim to minimise but can never be fully removed – escalate 
into delays way beyond the initial incident. This is due to the high level of 
interaction that trains have with each other, particularly at junctions where 
trains cross paths. 

30. When passengers cannot depend on a reasonably reliable service, they 
will avoid travelling by train where they can.  Many will not have a choice in 
the short term, but over the longer term they will make different travel, job 
or home choices on a range of many factors including the reliability of the 
train service. So, there are sound financial reasons for having a reliable 
network.  There are also wider economic reasons too.  Delay caused by 
late trains wastes peoples’ time, and time is valuable. We assess this too 
when we look at the value of rail services, and this helps quantify the 
impacts of poor train performance. 

31. The following map shows the origin of services travelling through the 
Castlefield corridor. Services using the Castlefield Corridor have diverse 
origins, including Scotland, Lancashire, Yorkshire, the North East, the East 
of England and Wales. The map gives an indication of the distance 
travelled by many of these services, each scheduled to arrive at critical 
points of their journey timed to seconds. 

Map showing span of rail services travelling through the Castlefield 
corridor (December 2019 timetable) 

9 | P a g e Page 51



 

  

 

  
     

   
       

  

      
 

   
     

     

    
   

  
     

  
 

    
    

     
     

     

   
     

 

    
  

 

    
    

     
   

   

  
 

  
 

  
   

  
 

 
   

  
 

 

Objectives for the options 
32. Over the last few months, the Task Force has been considering options 

available to improve the situation without significantly compromising 
journey opportunities. There are many things that have been taken into 
consideration when devising options.  These include: 

• the impact that changes will have on existing and potentially new 
passengers; 

• the impact that changes will have on overall train reliability; 
• the changes required from an operational perspective – for example, 

the location and use of rolling stock and train staff; 

• whether changes in services require significant train crew training5; 
• the costs and benefits of all the above.  Costs and benefits include 

both operational cost and revenue changes as well as non-financial 
impacts such as journey time savings or gain, and changes to 
passenger delay time. Further description is provided in ‘Assessment 
method’ section. 

33. The Task Force has sifted and refined many options and now has three 
main options which are the focus of this document. Each option comprises 
a package of changes that simplify the pattern of train services and train 
planning experts believe they are deliverable. The options for 
consideration have the same objectives – namely: 

• to improve train performance for everybody; 
• to maintain service levels and capacity for as many passengers as 

possible; 

• to create a timetable that is based on sound principles from which it 
will be possible to build improvements, as infrastructure investment 
becomes available. 

34. One way in which timetable planners design a timetable to perform 
reliably is to avoid services terminating on through platforms where 
possible – particularly where platform capacity is limited.  This is because 
terminating trains require a further train movement (either in passenger 
service or not) to clear the platform. 

35. The second main way to design a reliable timetable is to segregate train 
movements as much as possible, so that the number of conflicting 
movements across infrastructure is minimised.  As we have seen, the 
railway geography in Manchester has many junctions, and a reliable 
timetable is more likely to come from a timetable that uses as few 
conflicting crossing movements as possible. 

36. Finally, the timetable planners have aimed to create regular intervals 
between services as far as possible.  This makes the timetable easier to 

5 Train crew require ‘route learning’ for every section of track they operate on.  If services alter routes and train crew 
require new, or updated learning, training slots must be scheduled into the crew rosters so that individuals can gain the 
relevant knowledge.  This requires considerable advance planning so that services can be covered while staff are 
training and not available for regular duty 

10 | P a g e Page 52



 

  

 

 
  

 
 

  
    

  

 

 
  

 

 

     
 

 

     
    

  
  

  
   

    
 

    
 

 
  

 

understand for passengers, and helps ensure that passenger demand is 
distributed evenly, rather than ‘bunching’ when two trains are scheduled 
close together.  This ‘standardisation’ is a positive feature for both 
passengers and train operators who are aiming to run a reliable service. 

37. The diagram below shows the pattern of services travelling through 
Manchester. Note that the diagram represents services, not track.  The 
Castlefield corridor (Oxford Road to Piccadilly) is a 2-track railway only. 

Diagram showing the current (pre-COVID) service pattern in Manchester6 

(note that south Manchester services are not shown) 

38. The options for consideration have been developed in this context, with 
these objectives. All options have got several essential features in 
common, which are: 

• A reduction in frequency on the Castlefield Corridor - the key 
‘Congested Infrastructure’ constraint – to a maximum of 12 trains per 
hour each way off-peak, which is assessed to be the reliable train 
service limit of the corridor. 

• Better spacing of trains on the Castlefield Corridor to avoid delays 
knocking-on to following trains. 

• Fewer conflicts at key junctions to avoid trains crossing each other’s 
paths. 

• Better linkage of services at Victoria to reduce trains turning round in 
platforms. 

6 Other operators run services to Manchester, including Cross Country Trains and Avanti West Coast.  These are not 
planned to change and have therefore been omitted for clarity 

11 | P a g e Page 53



 

  

 

        
     

 
 

  

      
     

 
    

  
  

   
   

     
 

       
  

    
  

  
     

    
     

       
 

    

      
    

   
  

   
 

 

  

• A move towards repeating 30 minute and 60 minute service patterns, 
to standardise operations and make train service patterns simpler for 
passengers, particularly when they need to interchange to complete 
their journey. 

39. The train services which are best candidates for change to achieve the 
objectives above are generally those that are travelling from the north to 
Manchester Airport (because Manchester Airport is south of Manchester, 
and to reach it from the north requires travelling through the Castlefield 
corridor) and services from Manchester Piccadilly to the North West. 
These services must navigate Castlefield, Water St, Ordsall Lane and 
Windsor Bridge (Salford Crescent) junctions on their journeys and present 
multiple opportunities to either pick up or generate delay throughout the 
network. However, Manchester Airport also provides valuable Manchester 
terminal capacity which is limited. 

40. Direct services to Manchester Airport are valued very highly by 
stakeholders across the whole region, as is the option for services to more 
than one of the Central Manchester stations.  The Task Force is very 
mindful of this value, and understands that passengers make significant 
choices about home, work and leisure depending on the promised 
timetable. Although it is always easier for passengers to have a direct 
service where possible, we believe that the current provision of direct 
services, and choice of Manchester destinations, is related to the poor 
performance of the network overall. Needing to interchange is never 
ideal, but if it is accompanied by anxiety about missing a connection, the 
overall journey is further compromised. 

41. Our intention is to deliver a reliable, dependable service so that making an 
interchange to complete a journey isn’t a deal breaker for travelling at all. 

Question 1: Do you support the aim of 
standardising and simplifying service 
patterns if this will significantly improve 
overall train performance? 

12 | P a g e Page 54



 

  

 

 
      

    
     

   
    
       

    

      
 

   
   

 

    
 

     
    

   

     
   

    
  

 

      

   
  

     
  

      
   

 
   

   

   
 

    
      

     
   

   
     
      

    

Description of options 
42. The three options for a May 2022 timetable recast that we present here are 

named Option A, Option B and Option C. Details of each option are 
provided as an appendix at the end of this document. The options offer 
increasing levels of intervention compared with the December 2019 
timetable pattern of services (the “No Change” option) with Option A 
involving the least change, and Option C the most. These options are 
being developed to operate on the current infrastructure. 

43. Work is also progressing on developing infrastructure interventions for the 
longer term.  Given the long lead time for railway enhancement projects, 
none will be available to address the current performance issues by 2022. 
That is why this work is focussed on improving the timetable structure to 
deliver better performance. 

44. Each of the options is designed to provide either the same level or an 
increase in peak capacity when compared with the ‘No Change’ option. 
Where reductions in peak frequency occur on a particular route, trains will 
be lengthened to maintain overall peak capacity. The detail of peak train 
lengths will be confirmed during the next phase of work. 

45. Under each option there could be changes to the central Manchester 
destination station – with trains on some routes running to Victoria rather 
than Piccadilly. These changes form part of the overall network design to 
improve performance and reduce the level of delay in Manchester. 

Option A 

46. Option A has the fewest change from December 2019 of the three options. 

• Most existing origins and destinations are retained, particularly for 
Newcastle to Piccadilly and Sheffield to Airport journeys. 

• Some standardisation is possible in this option, for example 
Blackpool trains to Hazel Grove, with 4 trains per hour being 
provided all day from Bolton to the south of Manchester. Cumbria to 
Manchester Airport trains (currently routed via Wigan) instead run via 
Bolton. 

• The current pattern of TPE Scottish, North route and South route 
services remain. 

• Services through Victoria have been linked to reduce the number of 
terminating trains at this busy station, with more trains running 
through (e.g. Wigan – Leeds via Bradford). 

• The Transport for Wales service from North Wales and Chester train is 
re-routed from Manchester Piccadilly and the airport to operate to 
Stalybridge via Victoria. 

• South Manchester stays largely consistent with the December 2019 
plan, but Buxton services are reduced to an hourly service outside the 
peak periods. The Southport service to Alderley Edge is split into a 
Southport to Victoria service and Piccadilly to Alderley Edge service. 

13 | P a g e Page 55



 

  

 

    

 

  
    

    
  

 

 

    
       

     
    

 
  

 

   
   

  
   

    
   

   
     

    

       
    

  

Proposed service pattern in Manchester for Option A (note that south Manchester 

services are not shown) 

The diagram shows the reduction in services using the Castlefield corridor 
(from 14 to 12 in off-peak periods).  This has been achieved by routing the 
Transport for Wales North Wales service to Stalybridge and all Southport 
services to Victoria. 

Option B 

47. Option B is a variant that maintains Airport connectivity for Liverpool and 
North Wales. The Cleethorpes/Nottingham service via Sheffield to 
Liverpool is increased to a standard 2 trains per hour. This means there is 
no longer a through service from Sheffield to Manchester Airport; a 
movement which is very operationally challenging at Manchester 
Piccadilly. Passengers from Warrington Central would also need to change 
at Piccadilly to access the Airport. 

• Stopping trains on the line from Warrington Central are split at 
Warrington rather than running through from Liverpool, and run at 
only one per hour off-peak, calling at all stations. This offers an 
improved pattern for most stations rather than the present pattern of 
alternate hours at some smaller stations. The two Liverpool-Sheffield 
services would call at the larger intermediate stations such as 
Birchwood, Irlam and Urmston. 

• There is some standardisation of paths at Manchester Victoria, with 2 
trains per hour from Victoria to Leeds via Bradford.  Southport trains 
run to Stalybridge/Victoria all day. 

• There is some standardisation of services south of Manchester. One 
TPE Ordsall Chord train (i.e. that travels to Manchester Airport) is 
terminated at Victoria, all day. 

14 | P a g e Page 56



 

  

 

       
   

     
  

      
   

  
 

  

 

 

 

   
  

     
  

       
   

      
 

   
   

 
  

   
    

   

       
  

• In the peak periods, Wigan has a fast hourly service to the south side 
of Manchester. 

• On the Bolton line, the Scotland to Manchester Airport service calls 
every hour at Bolton and Chorley. 

• To the south of Manchester, Buxton would retain two services per 
hour, but the Crewe line local station services would both be diverted 
to run via Styal/Manchester Airport. 

Proposed service pattern in Manchester for Option B (note that south Manchester 

services are not shown) 

Option C 

48. Option C makes the most interventions and moves closest to 30-minute 
frequencies on most of the corridors into Manchester, including services 
on the Blackburn, Calder Valley, Chorley, Wigan, Buxton, Chester via 
Warrington Bank Quay, Airport (stopping) and Crewe lines. 

49. As for Option B, the Cleethorpes/Nottingham service via Sheffield to 
Liverpool becomes 2 services per hour, meaning there is no direct service 
from Sheffield to Manchester Airport – a move that is very operationally 
challenging at Manchester Piccadilly. 

• Stopping trains on the line from Warrington Central are split at 
Warrington rather than running through from Liverpool, and run at 
only one per hour off-peak, calling at all stations. This offers an 
improved pattern for most stations rather than the present pattern of 
alternate hours at some smaller stations. The two Liverpool-Sheffield 
services would call at the larger intermediate stations such as 
Birchwood, Irlam and Urmston. 

• In this option, there would be no direct service from either Sheffield 
or Liverpool to Manchester Airport. 

15 | P a g e Page 57



 

  

 

      
     

   
  

        
   

    
  

  
  

   

     
      

      
  

      

    
  

  

    
 

    
          

 

    
 

   
  

 

 

 
   
  

  
  

 

  
  

  
   

  

   
      

  
 

• In peak periods, one train per hour would run via the Ordsall Chord 
to Manchester Airport. The train from Newcastle would terminate at 
Manchester Victoria. Off-peak, the train will run to Manchester 
Airport. 

• The TfW North Wales and Chester service also loses its direct airport 
link, with the service instead diverted to run to Manchester Piccadilly 
via Knutsford. This offers a new semi-fast service on the Mid-Cheshire 
line in addition to the existing hourly service. 

• There would be regular calls in the Scotland and Cumbria trains at 
Bolton and Chorley, with these services running at 30 minute 
intervals. 

• Chester would have two trains per hour to Manchester Victoria at 30 
minute intervals, continuing on to Leeds. 

• In the peak periods Wigan maintains a fast hourly service to the south 
of Manchester. 

• To the south of Manchester, Buxton retains two trains per hour. 

• The Crewe line local station services run at 30 minute intervals and 
call at all stations, and run via Manchester Airport. 

50. This options also offers: 

• Standard 15-minute frequency (broadly) for the key flows of Bolton to 
Manchester Piccadilly, and Wigan Wallgate to Manchester Victoria. 

• Standardised paths at Manchester Victoria, with 2 trains per hour 
from Southport to Stalybridge and 2 trains per hour from Chester to 
Leeds, running via Warrington Bank Quay. 

• A peak train from Southport to Oxford Road running semi-fast via 
Atherton. 

• An even 15 min frequency at Levenshulme and Heaton Chapel. 
• Regular half hourly stops at all of the Bolton line stations between 

Leyland and Kearsley. 

• Extended turnrounds at terminal stations and trains operating on 
single routes (with reduced ‘interworking’), significantly helping 
performance by reducing the level of delay transmitted from one 
route to another. 

• The elimination of trains using the same platform at Manchester 
Airport, also helping improve performance. 

51. In Timetable Option C, a number of stations gain an improvement in 
frequency, helping contribute to overall benefits. For example: 

• Kearsley, Farnworth, Moses Gate, Mossley, Greenfield, Marsden, 
Slaithwaite, Walsden, Runcorn East, Frodsham and Helsby receive a 
half hourly instead of hourly service. 

• Trafford Park, Humphrey Park, Chassen Road, Flixton and Glazebrook 
receive an hourly rather than 2 hourly service (off peak). 

• Northwich, Knutsford and Altrincham receive a half hourly rather than 
hourly service. 

16 | P a g e Page 58



 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 
     

 

  
 

  
  

  
 

    
  

   
    

  
     

     
     

      
     

    
     

Proposed service pattern in Manchester for Option C (note that south Manchester 

services are not shown) 

Assessment method 
52. Each of the options has been assessed using two established quantitative 

methods: 

• A rail simulation model that calculates the expected minutes of train 
delay accumulated by all trains for any given timetable.  This 
measures the impact of the options on performance; and 

• A rail passenger demand model, which calculates the effects on 
passenger numbers of changes in proposed timetables.  This 
measures the impact of the options on the numbers of people 
travelling – both from the timetable changes themselves and from 
having a more reliable railway 

53. Train performance simulation is a powerful way to test how a timetable 
could work in practice.  The simulation models variations in typical delay 
which services bring into the complex Manchester network.  The model 
then simulates how this delay would impact upon other services within the 
area of study. The ability to model variations in delay is important because 
even though a timetable may be ‘theoretically’ possible to operate – i.e. 
operate with no delay if every train runs perfectly to time – when delay 
does occur, it may magnify the impacts across many more services and 
leading to more passengers being affected. The simulations allow these 
effects to be measured systematically for each option. 

17 | P a g e Page 59



 

  

 

  
    

    
     

  
    

   
    

   
 

     
   

     
    

  
     

   
   

 

   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

54. The rail passenger demand model works by calculating all the journey 
opportunities across the network throughout the day and calculates the 
overall time of a journey (including actual travel time, a service frequency 
allowance, time needed to change between trains – including an 
‘interchange penalty’ which reflect the inconvenience of having to change 
trains on a journey).  This overall time measurement is used to give a fairer 
overall assessment of how rail passengers experience their journey and is 
underpinned by well-established, industry-standard research. The 
calculations are weighted by the number of passengers (pre-COVID) 
travelling across the day. 

55. The results provide quantitative comparisons of the options, with the ability 
to weigh up the impacts on passengers of changes in journey options 
against those of changes in train performance. The passenger demand 
modelling takes account of all journeys across the day, so it calculates the 
benefits of, for example, an increase in frequency of services for some, 
versus a loss of a direct service for others. It measures, for example, the 
additional time impact of a station stop for those already on the train, 
versus the benefit of an additional station stop at a particular location. 

Question 2: Do you support the approach 
of measuring the service level and 
performance impacts across all passengers 
to allow fair trade-offs between options? 

18 | P a g e Page 60



 

  

 

 

 
     

    
     

    
    

     
     

   
     

        
  

   
    

        
    

      
 

 

 

 
 

  
 

 

   

 
    

 

    
  

 
   

   
 

    
 

   

  

Initial Assessment results 
56. The initial results of the assessment of the options show the further we 

move towards a 30-minute or 60-minute even frequency for all corridors 
into Manchester, the better the timetable passenger benefits and 
passengers’ performance benefits.  This comes at the expense of the loss 
of some direct services to Manchester Airport, and choice of Manchester 
destination station for some journeys. Pre-COVID, of all passengers 
travelling to Manchester, 93% are travelling to city centre destination 
stations, compared to 7% to the airport.  Airport journeys tend to be 
longer distance trips by passengers travelling infrequently. 

57. Initial results confirm that the No Change (December 2019) option does 
not perform well in terms of train performance/reliability, supporting the 
need for change. Over the coming weeks, work will continue to refine the 
options and particularly to optimise the arrangements for the additional 
peak services traditionally required across all options. The Task Force will 
continue with the assessment timetabling and performance modelling 
work to ensure we have the best evidence as well as the responses to this 
consultation before making a recommendation for a decision in Spring 
2021. 

Table showing initial results of performance impacts 

Performance results No 
Change 
option 

Option A Option B Option C 

Average delay per train 
(minutes) 

3.0 2.5 2.3 2.1 

58. The table shows the extent to which the options reduce the amount of 
average delay a train collects on its journey.  We have seen that services 
often start from well beyond the Manchester area, so it would be difficult to 
eliminate all delay from the system by revising the Manchester services 
alone.  The results indicate that changing the timetable in the ways 
proposed can make a significant difference in train performance across the 
network.  The best result significantly reduces average delay per train from 
3 to 2.1 minutes.  This will have a positive impact on all rail travellers. 

59. Results also indicate that for each of the options, performance improves on 
the Castlefield Corridor.  This confirms that the approach of reducing train 
frequency and improved spacing of trains is helping to improve reliability. 

19 | P a g e Page 61



 

  

 

   
 

  
 

 

   

 
 

 
 

    

 
 

 
  

    

 
  

   
 

    

      
    

       
   

  
 

       
     

      
  

    

    
   

       
   

     
       

       
      

 

   
  

  

Table showing initial results of passenger impacts 

Passenger results No 
Change 
option 

Option A Option B Option C 

Change in daily demand 
due to connectivity 
changes compared to ‘No 
Change’ option 

n/a -1,100 +400 +2,200 

Change in daily demand 
due to improved 
performance compared to 
‘No Change’ option 

n/a +2,200 +3,500 +4,800 

Net impact of changes on 
daily demand compared to 
‘No Change’ option (total of 
rows 1 and 2) 

n/a +1,100 +3,900 +7,000 

60. In this table the first row shows the way the changes in demand respond to 
the timetable changes. A positive number corresponds to more people 
travelling each day because of the changes. A positive number means 
more people have been attracted to use the services because of 
improvements, and this has outweighed those who may be lost because 
their journey would be affected adversely. 

61. The second row shows the demand change resulting from high level 
performance changes – more people travel when the service is more 
reliable, with fewer people travelling if performance worsens. All three 
options improve on the ‘No Change’ case, with increasing improvements 
in network performance resulting in attracting more passengers. 

62. Whilst the timetable changes are expected to have a positive impact on 
overall demand, some passengers will need to change trains who 
previously had direct services – including to Manchester Airport. There 
had been around 18,300 trips to the airport by train each day, including 
6,800 Manchester Piccadilly to Manchester Airport trips. In the No Change 
scenario, a total of 15,900 daily passengers have a direct service to the 
airport. In Option A, around 15,100 trips have a direct service, in Option B 
it is around 13,900 trips and Option C around 12,700. Passengers needing 
to change trains will typically do so at Manchester Piccadilly. 

Question 3: On the basis of these results, 
which is your preferred option? 

20 | P a g e Page 62



 

  

 

 
  

  

    
  

 

      
  

  
   

   
      

    

   
   

 
 

 
 

 

  
   

 

   
  

 

  
   

 

       
  

Next steps 
63. This consultation will continue for 8 weeks.  During this period, the Task 

Force will continue to work with stakeholders, train operators and others to 
further develop and refine the options.  We will consider the consultation 
responses as they are received. This information will inform a final 
recommendation, on which a decision on the preferred option will be 
made. 

64. Following this decision, Train Operators will develop a detailed complete 
timetable which they will then consult on with the public and other user 
groups, as is normal practice for proposed timetable change.  This second 
consultation planned for May 2021 provides an opportunity for 
communities to engage with operators who will endeavour to 
accommodate adjustments to the proposed timetable where possible. By 
this point the main structure of the timetable will be broadly fixed. 

Question 4: Please provide your views on 
the details of the proposed changes which 
are detailed by route in the Appendix. 

Additional questions 

Question 5: Where do you usually travel 
from and to? Please include your origin and destination station 

Question 6: How often do you make this 
journey? 

Question 7: What is the reason for your 
journey? For example, work, business, education, leisure 

65. You can respond to questions 5-7 for different journeys if you make 
different trips. 

21 | P a g e Page 63



 

  

 

 

 
 

  
  

   

  
 

 
 

 
 

    
  

       
 

  
    

  

      
  

  
    

  
   

 
  

    
         

 

    

 
 

 
   

   
  

 
  

  
 

    
  

   
       

  
 

Appendix 

Details of options 

Split by line of route, the details of each timetable option are set out below. 
Calling patterns typically remain the same as in the No Change timetable unless 
otherwise noted. 

Liverpool to Manchester via Warrington Central 

December 
2019 
service 
pattern 

• 1 fast train per hour between Liverpool and Manchester Airport, via 
Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

• 1 fast train per hour from Liverpool to Nottingham (and Norwich) via 
Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

• 2 trains per hour between Liverpool and Manchester Oxford Road, skip-
stopping with some stations only having one train every 2 hours. 

Option A As per current. 

Option B • 1 semi fast train per hour between Liverpool and Cleethorpes, via Manchester 
Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly, calling at larger intermediate stations 
such as Birchwood, Irlam and Urmston. 

• 1 fast train per hour between Liverpool and Nottingham, via Manchester 
Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

• In peak periods, 2 stopping trains per hour between Warrington and 
Manchester Oxford Road, calling all stations. 

• Off-peak, 1 stopping train per hour between Warrington and Manchester 
Oxford Road calling at all stations. 

• 2 trains per hour between Liverpool and Warrington Central calling at all 
stations. 

Option C As per Option B. 

In Timetable Option A, no changes are made to the structure of these services. 

In Timetable Options B and C, the following changes are made: 

• The Liverpool to Airport service instead runs to Cleethorpes, calling 
at Liverpool South Parkway, Warrington Central, Birchwood, Irlam 
and Urmston. 

• 2 stopping trains per hour run all day from Warrington Central to 
Liverpool Lime Street. 

• In peak periods, 2 stopping trains per hour run from Warrington 
Central to Manchester Oxford Road, calling at all stations. 

• In off-peak periods, 1 stopping train per hour runs from Warrington 
Central to Manchester Oxford Road, calling at  all stations.   

The changes to stopping services are designed to provide a standard hourly 
pattern, increase the number of calls at most stations, and reduce the number of 
train movements in the Castlefield Corridor. 

22 | P a g e Page 64



 

  

 

  
     

   
   

     
  

  

     
 

 
 

        
 

   
   

   
   

  
    

 

      
 

       
 

   

     
   

   
  

      
  

     
  

       
  

   
  

   
   

    
  

   
 

    
    

       
 

    
   

 

   
 

    
    

The Liverpool to Airport service instead runs to Cleethorpes; those travelling 
beyond Manchester to Sheffield get an extra direct service. Passengers for the 
Airport change at Piccadilly, with same-platform interchange possible and a 
frequent service. The Cleethorpes and Nottingham trains would be exactly 30 
minutes apart, providing an even interval service. These changes are designed 
to simplify and reduce the number of train movements on the approach to 
Manchester Piccadilly. 

Liverpool and Wigan to Manchester via Eccles 
December 
2019 
service 
pattern 

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

2 fast trains per hour from Liverpool to Manchester Victoria, on to Leeds via 
Huddersfield. 
1 train per hour from Chester to Leeds, via Manchester Victoria and Halifax. 
1 train per hour from North Wales to Manchester Airport, via Warrington Bank 
Quay, Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 
1 stopping train per hour from Liverpool to Crewe, via Newton-le-Willows, 
Manchester Oxford Road, Manchester Piccadilly and Manchester Airport. 
1 fast train per hour from Cumbria to Manchester Airport, via Wigan North 
Western, Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly 

In the peak periods, 1 stopping train per hour from Liverpool to Manchester 
Victoria. 

Option A • 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

2 fast trains per hour from Liverpool to Manchester Victoria, on to Leeds via 
Huddersfield. 

1 train per hour from Chester to Leeds, via Manchester Victoria and Halifax. 

1 train per hour from North Wales and Chester to Stalybridge, via Warrington 
Bank Quay and Manchester Victoria. 
1 stopping train per hour from Liverpool to Manchester Airport via Newton-le-
Willows, Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 
In the peak periods, 1 stopping train per hour from Liverpool to Manchester 
Victoria. 
In the peak periods, 1 fast train per hour from Scotland to Manchester Airport (not 
calling at Wigan). 

Option B • 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

2 fast trains per hour from Liverpool to Manchester Victoria, on to Leeds via 
Huddersfield. 
1 train per hour from Chester to Stalybridge, via Warrington Bank Quay and 
Manchester Victoria. 

1 train per hour from North Wales to Manchester Airport, via Warrington Bank 
Quay, Manchester Oxford Roadand Manchester Piccadilly. 
1 stopping train per hour from Liverpool to Manchester Airport via Newton-le-
Willows, Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 
1 stopping train per hour from Liverpool to Manchester Victoria (peak periods 
only). 
1 fast train per hour from Wigan North Western to Hazel Grove (peak periods 
only) via Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

Option C • 

• 
• 

• 

• 

2 fast trains per hour from Liverpool to Manchester Victoria, on to Leeds via 
Huddersfield. 
2 train per hour from Chester to Leeds, via Manchester Victoria and Halifax. 
1 stopping train per hour from Liverpool to Manchester Oxford Road via Newton-
le-Willows. 

1 stopping train per hour from Liverpool to Manchester Victoria (peak periods 
only). 
1 fast train per hour from Wigan North Western to Hazel Grove (peak periods 
only) via Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

23 | P a g e Page 65



 

  

 

 

   

     
  

    
  

  
  

 
  

   
   
 

 
   

     
  

  
  

     
 

  
   

  
 

 
   

   
    

  
 

    
    

     
   

   
  

     
 

  
   

  

In Timetable Option A, the following changes are made: 

• 1 stopping train per hour from Liverpool runs only to the Airport and 
not on to Crewe. 

• 1 train per hour from North Wales and Chester is diverted to 
Manchester Victoria and Stalybridge, not Manchester Airport. 

• The Cumbria to Manchester Airport train runs via Bolton rather than 
via Wigan. 

The change reduces the number of trains on the Castlefield Corridor and 
simplifies the routeing of trains around Manchester Victoria. It also removes the 
fast service from Wigan to Manchester routed via Eccles, as well as breaking 
direct links from Wigan to Manchester Airport. 

In Timetable Option B, the following changes are made: 

• 1 stopping train per hour from Liverpool would run only to the 
Airport, not on to Crewe. 

• The Cumbria to Manchester Airport train would run via Bolton rather 
than via Wigan. 

• A peak only service runs from Wigan North Western to Hazel Grove. 

The change reduces the number of trains on the Castlefield Corridor and 
simplifies the routeing of trains around Manchester Victoria. The peak only 
service from Wigan re-establishes the fast Wigan to Piccadilly link, but does not 
provide a direct Airport link. 

In Timetable Option C, the following changes are made: 

• 1 stopping train per hour from Liverpool runs to Manchester Oxford 
Road, not on to Manchester Airport and Crewe. 

• The Cumbria to Manchester Airport train runs via Bolton rather than 
via Wigan. 

• There are 2 trains per hour from Chester to Leeds via Manchester 
Victoria and Halifax, with the North Wales and Chester train being 
diverted to run to Manchester Piccadilly via Northwich to provide a 
second service on the mid Cheshire line. 

• In peak periods, 1 train per hour runs from Wigan North Western to 
Hazel Grove, via Manchester Piccadilly. 

• A peak only service runs from Wigan North Western to Hazel Grove. 

These changes reduce the number of trains on the Castlefield Corridor and 
simplify the routeing of trains around Manchester Victoria. 

24 | P a g e Page 66



 

  

 

  
 

 

 

 
 

    
  

  
 

     
   

    
   

     
  

     
 

    
     

 

     
  

   

      
 

     
     

  
     
   

       
  

     
  

    
  

  

 
   

  
  

    
  

   
 

    

   
 

  
  

Wigan to Manchester via Atherton and 
Westhoughton 

December 
2019 
service 
pattern 

• 

• 

• 

• 
• 
• 

1 train per hour from Southport to Stalybridge via Westhoughton and 
Manchester Victoria. . 
1 train per hour from Southport to Alderley Edge via Westhoughton, 
Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 
1 train per hour from Wigan to Leeds via Atherton, Manchester Victoria and 
Dewsbury. 

1 train per hour from Wigan to Blackburn via Atherton and Manchester Victoria. 
1 train per hour from Kirkby to Manchester Victoria via Atherton. 

In the peak periods, 1 train per hour from Wigan to Manchester Victoria via 
Atherton. 

Option A • 

• 
• 

• 

• 

1 train per hour from Southport to Stalybridge via Westhoughton and 
Manchester Victoria. 

1 train per hour from Southport to Manchester Victoria via Westhoughton. 
1 train per hour from Wigan to Leeds via Atherton, Manchester Victoria and 
Dewsbury. 

1 train per hour from Wigan to Leeds via Atherton, Manchester Victoria and 
Bradford. 
1 train per hour from Kirkby to Blackburn via Manchester Victoria via Atherton. 

Option B • 

• 
• 

• 
• 

1 train per hour from Southport to Stalybridge via Westhoughton and 
Manchester Victoria. 
1 train per hour from Southport to Manchester Victoria via Westhoughton. 
1 train per hour from Wigan to Leeds via Atherton, Manchester Victoria and 
Dewsbury. 
1 train per hour from Kirkby to Blackburn via Atherton and Manchester Victoria. 
In the peak periods, 1 train per hour from Wigan to Manchester Victoria. 

Option C • 

• 

• 
• 

2 trains per hour from Southport to Stalybridge via Westhoughton and 
Manchester Victoria. 
1 train per hour from Wigan to Leeds via Atherton, Manchester Victoria and 
Dewsbury. 
1 train per hour from Kirkby to Blackburn via Atherton and Manchester Victoria. 
In the peak periods, 1 train per hour from Wigan to Manchester Oxford Road, 
via Atherton, running semi-fast. 

In Timetable Option A, the following changes are made: 

• 1 train per hour from Southport is diverted away from Manchester 
Piccadilly/Alderley Edge, instead running to Manchester Victoria. 

• 1 train per hour from Wigan to Manchester Victoria is linked to Leeds 
via Bradford. 

• 1 train per hour from Kirkby to Manchester Victoria runs on to 
Blackburn. 

• The peak only trains from Wigan to Manchester Victoria do not run, 
with additional carriages being added to other services to maintain 
peak capacity. 

The changes simplify and standardise the routeing of trains around Manchester 
Victoria. 

25 | P a g e Page 67



 

  

 

 
    

 

  
 

   
 

    
   

   
 

  
  

 
    

 

  
 

  
 

   
  

   
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

 

 
 

   
   

    
 

    
 

  

     
  

     
  

    
 

      
 

In Timetable Option B, the following changes are made: 

• 1 train per hour from Southport is diverted away from Manchester 
Piccadilly/Alderley Edge to Manchester Victoria/Stalybridge 

• 1 train per hour from Kirkby to Manchester Victoria runs on to 
Blackburn. 

• The frequency of trains on the Atherton line reduces to 2 trains per 
hour off-peak and 3 trains an hour in the peak, with the remaining 
trains running with 4 carriages to maintain capacity. 

The changes simplify and standardise the routeing of trains around Manchester 
Victoria. 

In Timetable Option C, the following changes are made: 

• 1 train per hour from Southport is diverted away from Manchester 
Piccadilly/Alderley Edge to Manchester Victoria/Stalybridge 

• 1 train per hour from Kirkby to Manchester Victoria run on to 
Blackburn. 

• The frequency of trains on the Atherton line reduces to 2 trains per 
hour off-peak and 3 trains per hour in the peak, with the remaining 
trains running with 4 carriages to maintain capacity. 

• A peak-only train connects Southport with Manchester Oxford Road, 
running semi-fast via the Atherton line calling at Hindley. Atherton 
and Walkden. 

The changes simplify and standardise the routeing of trains around Manchester 
Victoria. 

Preston to Manchester via Chorley 

December 
2019 
service 
pattern 

• 

• 

• 

• 

1 fast train per hour from Scotland to Manchester Airport (with limited calls at 
Bolton) via Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

1 semi-fast train per hour from Blackpool to Manchester Airport via Manchester 
Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

1 stopping train per hour from Blackpool to Hazel Grove via Manchester Oxford 
Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 
1 stopping train per hour from Preston to Manchester Victoria. 

Option A • 

• 

• 

• 

1 fast train per hour from Scotland to Manchester Airport, in off-peak only, via 
Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 
1 semi-fast train per hour from Blackpool to Manchester Airport (in peak periods 
only), via Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

1 fast train per hour from Cumbria to Manchester Airport via Manchester Oxford 
Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

2 stopping trains per hour from Blackpool to Hazel Grove via Manchester Oxford 
Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

26 | P a g e Page 68



 

  

 

     
  

 
    

 
     

 

    
  

    
 

    
 

   
 

 
 

   
 

  
 

   
  

   
 

  
 

  
 

 
  

 
 

   
 

  
  

  
 

   
  

  
   

 
 

 
 
 
 

Option B • 

• 

• 

1 fast train per hour from Scotland to Manchester Airport (with full calls at Bolton 
and additionally at Chorley) via Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester 
Piccadilly. 
1 fast train per hour from Cumbria to Manchester Airport via Manchester Oxford 
Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 
2 stopping trains per hour from Blackpool to Alderley Edge via Manchester 
Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

Option C • 

• 

• 

• 

1 fast train per hour from Scotland to Manchester Airport via Manchester Oxford 
Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 
1 fast train per hour from Cumbria to Manchester Airport via Manchester Oxford 
Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 
2 stopping trains per hour from Blackpool to Manchester Airport via Manchester 
Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 
In the peak periods, 1 stopping train per hour from Preston to Manchester 
Victoria. 

In Timetable Option A, the following changes are made: 

• 2 trains per hour run as stopping services between Blackpool and 
Hazel Grove, via Manchester Piccadilly. 

• The current hourly stopping train from Preston to Manchester Victoria 
does not run. 

• The Cumbria to Manchester Airport train runs on this route rather 
than via Wigan, calling at Chorley and Bolton. 

• In peak periods, the Scotland to Manchester train would run via 
Wigan North Western (not Bolton), being replaced on the Bolton line 
by a Blackpool to Manchester Airport train calling at the larger 
stations. 

The changes improve the pattern of peak capacity for access to Manchester 
Piccadilly and simplify the routeing of trains around Manchester Victoria. 

In Timetable Option B, the following changes are made: 

• 2 trains per hour run as stopping services between Blackpool and 
Alderley Edge, via Manchester Piccadilly. 

• The current hourly stopping train from Preston to Manchester Victoria 
does not run. 

• The Cumbria to Manchester Airport train runs on this route rather 
than via Wigan calling at Chorley and Bolton. 

• The Scotland to Manchester Airport service will call every hour at 
Bolton and Chorley for all journeys. 

The changes improve the pattern of peak capacity for access to Manchester 
Piccadilly and simplify the routeing of trains around Manchester Victoria. 

27 | P a g e Page 69



 

  

 

   
  

  

    
 

   
  

 
  

 
 

    
 

 
 

   

    
  

 
      

 
 

 
    

   
 

 

   
 

 

 
 

   
    

 
   

  
  

  

      
  

    
 

    
  

   
 

   
 

In Timetable Option C, the following changes are made: 
• 2 trains per hour run as stopping services between Blackpool and 

Manchester Airport, via Manchester Piccadilly. 

• The hourly stopping train from Preston to Manchester Victoria only 
runs in the peaks. 

• The Cumbria to Manchester Airport train runs on this route rather 
than via Wigan calling at Chorley and Bolton. 

The changes improve the pattern of peak capacity for access to Manchester 
Piccadilly and simplify the routeing of trains around Manchester Victoria. 

Blackburn to Manchester via Darwen 

The current planned service pattern includes: 

• 1 train per hour from Clitheroe to Rochdale via Manchester Victoria. 

• 1 train per hour from Blackburn to Rochdale via Manchester Victoria, 
extending to Clitheroe in the peaks. 

In Timetable Options A and B, no changes are made to the structure of these 
services. 

In Timetable C, additional calls are added to these services, which operate at 
30 minute intervals. This provides a more regular service at local stations 
including Moses Gate, Farnworth and Kearsley; with a standard half hourly 
pattern of service as compared to the hourly service offered in all other options. 

Leeds to Manchester via Rochdale 

December 
2019 
service 
pattern 

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

1 train per hour from Leeds to Manchester Victoria via Bradford. 
1 train per hour from Leeds to Chester via Manchester Victoria and 
Warrington Bank Quay. 
1 train per hour from Leeds to Wigan via Dewsbury, Manchester Victoria 
and Atherton. 
1 train per hour from Blackburn to Wigan via Todmorden, Manchester 
Victoria and Atherton. 

2 trains per hour from Rochdale to Blackburn / Clitheroe via Manchester 
Victoria and Bolton. 

Option A • 

• 

• 

• 

1 train per hour from Leeds to Wigan via Bradford, Manchester Victoria and 
Atherton. 
1 train per hour from Leeds to Chester via Manchester Victoria and 
Warrington Bank Quay. 

1 train per hour from Leeds to Wigan via Dewsbury, Manchester Victoria 
and Atherton. 

1 train per hour from Blackburn to Kirkby via Manchester Victoria and 
Atherton. 

28 | P a g e Page 70



 

  

 

      
  

      

  
 

   
 

      
  

       
 

  
 

    
 

      
  

 
 

   
   

  

    
 

 
  

  
 

  
   

  

    
 

 
  

  
 

   

   
  

  
  

 
  

   
 

  

• 2 trains per hour from Rochdale to Blackburn / Clitheroe via Manchester 
Victoria and Bolton. 

Option B • 
• 

• 

• 

2 trains per hour from Leeds to Manchester Victoria via Bradford. 

1 train per hour from Leeds to Wigan via Dewsbury, Manchester Victoria 
and Atherton. 
1 train per hour from Blackburn to Kirkby via Manchester Victoria and 
Atherton. 
2 trains per hour from Rochdale to Blackburn / Clitheroe via Manchester 
Victoria and Bolton. 

Option C • 

• 

• 

• 

2 trains per hour from Leeds to Chester via Manchester Victoria and 
Warrington Bank Quay. 
1 train per hour from Leeds to Wigan via Dewsbury, Manchester Victoria 
and Atherton. 
1 train per hour from Blackburn to Kirkby via Manchester Victoria and 
Atherton. 
2 trains per hour from Rochdale to Blackburn / Clitheroe via Manchester 
Victoria and Bolton. 

In Timetable Option A, the following changes are made: 
• 1 train per hour from Leeds to Manchester Victoria via Bradford 

would be extended to Wigan via Atherton. 

• 1 train per hour from Blackburn to Wigan is extended to Kirkby via 
Atherton. 

The changes simplify and standardise the routeing of trains around Manchester 
Victoria. 

In Timetable Option B, the following changes would be made: 
• 2 trains per hour run from Leeds to Manchester Victoria via Bradford 

(with no extension to Chester once per hour). 

• 1 train per hour from Blackburn to Wigan is extended to Kirkby via 
Atherton. 

The changes simplify and standardise the routeing of trains around Manchester 
Victoria. 

In Timetable Option C, the following changes are made: 

• 2 trains per hour would run from Leeds to Chester via Manchester 
Victoria and Warrington Bank Quay. 

• 1 train per hour from Blackburn to Wigan would be extended to 
Kirkby via Atherton. 

The changes simplify and standardise the routeing of trains around Manchester 
Victoria, providing a standard 30 minute interval for services on this route. 

29 | P a g e Page 71



 

  

 

  
 

  

 

 
 

  
    

 

      
 

    
 

     
 

    
 

      
 

 
   

     
   

 
   

     
  

 
   

   
  

 
   

   

Stalybridge to Manchester Victoria (Local 
Trains) 

December 
2019 
service 
pattern 

• 
• 

1 train per hour from Stalybridge to Manchester Victoria. 
1 train per hour from Stalybridge to Southport via Manchester Victoria and 
Westhoughton. 

Option A • 

• 

1 train per hour from Stalybridge to North Wales via Manchester Victoria and 
Warrington Bank Quay. 
1 train per hour from Stalybridge to Southport via Manchester Victoria and 
Westhoughton. 

Option B • 

• 

1 train per hour from Stalybridge to Chester via Manchester Victoria and 
Warrington Bank Quay. 

1 train per hour from Stalybridge to Southport via Manchester Victoria and 
Westhoughton. 

Option C • 2 trains per hour from Stalybridge to Southport via Manchester Victoria and 
Westhoughton. 

In Timetable Option A, the following changes are made: 

• 1 train per hour from Stalybridge to Manchester Victoria is replaced 
by a train running through to North Wales via Warrington Bank Quay. 

The change is designed to  simplify  the routeing of trains around Manchester  
Victoria.  

In Timetable Option B, the following changes are made: 
• 1 train per hour from Stalybridge to Manchester Victoria is replaced 

by a train running through to Chester via Warrington Bank Quay. 
The change simplifies  the routeing  of trains around Manchester Victoria.  

In Timetable Option C, the following changes are made: 
• 1 train per hour from Stalybridge to Manchester Victoria would be 

replaced by a second train per hour running on to Southport via 
Westhoughton. 

The change simplifies and standardises the routeing of trains around 
Manchester Victoria. 

30 | P a g e Page 72



 

  

 

 

  
 

 

 
 

    
  

    
 

  
   

  
    

     

      
 

    
    

    
   

  
  

      
  

      
    

    
    

   

   
  

  

 
 

 
   

  
 

   
      

  
    

  
  

  
 

   
   

 
   

Huddersfield to Manchester via TransPennine 
Main Line 

December 
2019 
service 
pattern 

• 

• 

• 

• 

2 fast trains per hour to Liverpool, from Edinburgh and Scarborough, via 
Manchester Victoria. 
2 fast trains per hour to Manchester Airport, coming from Newcastle and 
Redcar Central, via Manchester Victoria, Manchester Oxford Road, and 
Manchester Piccadilly. 
1 train per hour from Hull to Manchester Piccadilly, making local stops between 
Huddersfield and Stalybridge in peak periods. 
1 stopping train per hour from Huddersfield to Manchester Piccadilly. 

Option A • As per current. 

Option B • 

• 

• 
• 

• 

2 fast trains per hour to Liverpool, from Edinburgh and Scarborough via 
Manchester Victoria. 
1 fast train per hour from Redcar Central to Manchester Airport via Manchester 
Victoria, Manchester Oxford Road, and Manchester Piccadilly. 

1 fast trains per hour from Newcastle to Manchester Victoria. 
1 train per hour from Hull to Manchester Piccadilly, making local stops between 
Huddersfield and Stalybridge all day. 
1 stopping train per hour from Huddersfield to Manchester Piccadilly. 

Option C • 

• 

• 

• 

• 

2 fast trains per hour to Liverpool, from Edinburgh and Scarborough via 
Manchester Victoria. 
1 fast train per hour from Redcar Central to Manchester Airport via Manchester 
Victoria, Manchester Oxford Road, and Manchester Piccadilly. 
1 fast train per hour from Newcastle to Manchester Airport via Manchester 
Victoria, Manchester Oxford Road, and Manchester Piccadilly (in peak periods, 
only running to Manchester Victoria from Newcastle). 

1 train per hour from Hull to Manchester Piccadilly, making local stops between 
Huddersfield and Stalybridge all day. 
1 stopping train per hour from Huddersfield to Manchester Piccadilly. 

In Timetable Option A, no changes are made to the structure of these services. 

In Timetable Option B, the following changes are made: 
• The Hull to Manchester Piccadilly train calls at all stations between 

Huddersfield and Stalybridge, providing 2 trains per hour for these 
intermediate stations. 

• The Newcastle to Manchester Airport train is curtailed at Manchester 
Victoria; those travelling to Manchester Airport change trains at 
Huddersfield or take a Manchester Piccadilly service and change 
there. 

The changes provide a more regular service at local stations and reduces the 
number of trains using the Castlefield Corridor and Manchester Airport. 

In Timetable Option C, the following changes are made: 
• The Hull to Manchester train calls at all stations between Huddersfield 

and Stalybridge, providing 2 trains per hour for these intermediate 
stations. 

31 | P a g e Page 73



 

  

 

      
   
     

   
 

    

   
 

 

 
 

    
 

   
 

      
  

    

     

   
 

   
 

    

 
 

   
  

  
 

 
 

   
    

  
    

  
  

    
 

    
  

  
 

      
  

  

• The Newcastle to Manchester Airport train is curtailed at Manchester 
Victoria in the peaks; those travelling to Manchester Airport would 
need to change trains at Huddersfield or take a Manchester Piccadilly 
service and change there. 

The changes offer standardisation of the pattern for trains between 
Huddersfield and Manchester, providing a more regular service at local stations. 

Sheffield to Manchester via Hope Valley Line 

December 
2019 
service 
pattern 

• 1 stopping train per hour between Manchester Piccadilly and Sheffield skip-
stopping during the off-peak. 

• 1 fast train per hour between Cleethorpes and Manchester Airport via 
Manchester Piccadilly. 

• 1 fast train per hour between Liverpool and Nottingham (and Norwich) via 
Manchester Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

Option A As per current. 

Option B • 1 stopping train per hour between Manchester Piccadilly and Sheffield. 

• 1 fast train per hour between Cleethorpes and Liverpool via Manchester 
Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

• 1 fast train per hour between Nottingham and Liverpool via Manchester 
Oxford Road and Manchester Piccadilly. 

Option C As per Option B. 

The current planned service pattern includes: 
• 1 stopping train per hour between Manchester and Sheffield. 
• 1 fast train per hour between Cleethorpes and Manchester Airport. 

• 1 fast train per hour between Nottingham and Liverpool. 

In Timetable Option A, no changes are made to the structure of these services. 

In Timetable Options B and C, the following changes are made: 
• The Cleethorpes train runs to Liverpool, not the Airport; those 

travelling beyond Manchester to Liverpool get an extra service. 
• Passengers for the Airport to change at Piccadilly, with cross-platform 

interchange and a frequent service. 
• The Cleethorpes and Nottingham trains would be exactly 30 minutes 

apart, providing an even interval service. 

The changes simplify and reduce the number of train movements on the 
approach to Manchester Piccadilly. 

South Manchester Long Distance Services 

No changes are proposed to the structure of long distance services in south 
Manchester, including trains to London Euston, Birmingham and the South West 
and South Wales. 

32 | P a g e Page 74



 

  

 

 
 

 

 
 

   
  

  

  
  
  
    

  

   
 

    
  

   
  

  
    

  
  
   

 

    
  
    
  

    
  
     

   
 

     

    
  
    

   
   
     
    

 
 

  
 

   
    

     

   
  

    

South Manchester Local Services 

December 
2019 
service 
pattern 

• 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

1 train per hour from Liverpool to Crewe via Manchester Piccadilly and 
Airport. 
1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Crewe via Stockport. 

1 train per hour from Blackpool to Hazel Grove. 
1 train per hour from Southport to Alderley Edge. 
1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Stoke. 
2 trains per hour from Piccadilly to Buxton. 

1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Chester. 

In peak periods, additional services from Stoke and Alderley Edge to 
Piccadilly, and from Chester to Stockport 

Option A • 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 
• 

1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Crewe via Manchester Airport. 
1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Crewe via Stockport. 

2 trains per hour from Blackpool to Hazel Grove. 
1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Alderley Edge. 

1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Stoke. 
1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Buxton (increasing to 2 trains per hour in 
peak periods). 
1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Chester. 
In peak periods, additional services from Stoke and Alderley Edge to 
Piccadilly, and from Chester to Stockport 

Option B • 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Crewe via Manchester Airport. 
1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Crewe via Styal. 
2 trains per hour from Blackpool to Alderley Edge. 
1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Stoke. 

2 trains per hour from Piccadilly to Buxton. 
1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Chester. 
In peak periods, 1 train per hour from Wigan North Western to Hazel Grove. 

In peak periods, additional services from Stoke to Piccadilly, and from 
Chester to Stockport 

Option C • 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

2 trains per hour from Piccadilly to Crewe via Manchester Airport. 

2 trains per hour from Piccadilly to Alderley Edge. 
1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Stoke. 
2 trains per hour from Piccadilly to Buxton. 

1 train per hour from Piccadilly to North Wales via Chester running semi-fast. 
1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Chester. 
In peak periods, 1 train per hour from Wigan North Western to Hazel Grove. 
In peak periods, additional services from Stoke to Piccadilly. 

At present, calls at stations between Manchester Piccadilly and the Airport are 
picked up in other trains serving Manchester Airport, leading to an uneven 
calling pattern. 

In Timetable Option A, the following changes are made: 
• The 1 train per hour to the Airport and Crewe begins at Piccadilly 

(rather than Liverpool), calling all stations to Alderley Edge. 

• The 1 train per hour to Alderley Edge begins at Piccadilly (rather than 
Southport). 

• The Blackpool to Hazel Grove service increases to 2 trains per hour. 

33 | P a g e Page 75



 

  

 

    
   

 
  

  
 

   

   
  

    
   

     
  

    
   

 

   
  

  
  

 
   

    
    

    
 

   
   

    
      

  
    

   
 

 
  

  

   
      

 
  
  

   
 

  
  

• The 2 trains per hour to Buxton runs during peak periods only, with 1 
train per hour in the off-peak. 

The changes provide more even calling patterns and reduce the number of 
trains using the Castlefield Corridor and Manchester Piccadilly. 

In Timetable Option B, the following changes are made: 

• The 1 train per hour to the Airport and Crewe begin at Piccadilly 
(rather than Liverpool). 

• Alderley Edge services become 2 trains per hour all day and begin at 
Blackpool (rather than Southport). 

• 1 train per hour from Piccadilly to Crewe runs via Styal, rather than via 
Stockport (but not calling at the Airport). 

• 2 trains per hour continue to run to Buxton, but trains to Hazel Grove 
only run in the peaks only, provided by a Hazel Grove to Wigan North 
Western service. 

• The airport line gains a regular pattern all stations local service. 

The changes provide more even calling patterns and reduce the number of 
trains using the Castlefield Corridor and Manchester Piccadilly. 

In Timetable Option C, the following changes are made: 
• Stopping trains to the Airport and Crewe run at 30-minute intervals 

and begin at Piccadilly (rather than Liverpool), but both diverted to 
run via the Airport, giving a regular pattern of calls along the Airport 
line. 

• Alderley Edge services become 2 trains per hour all day and begin at 
Piccadilly (rather than Southport). 

• 2 trains per hour run to Buxton at 30 minute intervals, but trains to 
Hazel Grove only run in the peaks only, provided by a Hazel Grove to 
Wigan North Western service. 

• A second train per hour is provided on the Mid-Cheshire line, running 
from North Wales to Piccadilly and calling at Northwich, Knutsford, 
Altrincham and Stockport. 

The changes provide more even calling patterns and reduce the number of 
trains using the Castlefield Corridor and Manchester Piccadilly. 

Routes from the East to Manchester 
No changes are proposed to the structure of services in east Manchester, 
including local stopping trains to: 

• Hadfield and Glossop 
• New Mills Central and Chinley 

• Marple and Rose Hill Marple 

In Timetable Option C, Rose Hill Marple trains calls at all stations every half 
hour, rather than missing some out calls as at present. 

34 | P a g e Page 76



 

  

 

 

 
 

  
   

 

 
 

 

  
   

   
     
   

   
   
  

  

   
   

   
   
  
  

  
  
    

   
    
   

  
  
  

   
   

   

  
  

 

   

 

Manchester Airport 

The table below shows the pattern of services to Manchester Airport. The 
reasons for these changes have been set out under the descriptions above. 

December • 1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Glasgow / Edinburgh. 
2019 service • 1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Barrow / Windermere. 
pattern • 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Blackpool. 
1 train per hour from Crewe to Liverpool via Newton-le-Willows. 
1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Liverpool via Warrington Central. 

1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Redcar Central via Leeds. 
1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Newcastle via Leeds. 
1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Cleethorpes. 

1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to North Wales. 

Option A • 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Glasgow / Edinburgh. 
1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Barrow / Windermere. 

1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Liverpool via Newton-le-Willows. 
1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Liverpool via Warrington Central. 
1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Redcar Central via Leeds. 
1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Newcastle via Leeds. 

1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Cleethorpes. 
1 train per hour from Crewe to Manchester Piccadilly. 
Peak only, 1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Blackpool. 

Option B • 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Glasgow / Edinburgh. 
1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Barrow / Windermere. 
1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Liverpool via Newton-le-Willows. 

1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Redcar Central via Leeds. 
1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to North Wales. 
1 train per hour from Crewe to Manchester Piccadilly. 

Option C • 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 

1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Glasgow / Edinburgh. 
1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Barrow / Windermere. 

2 trains per hour from Manchester Airport to Blackpool. 

1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Redcar Central via Leeds. 
1 train per hour from Manchester Airport to Newcastle via Leeds (off-peak 
only). 

2 trains per hour from Crewe to Manchester Piccadilly. 

35 | P a g e Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	4 Quarterly Bus Update
	5 Asset Management Update March 2021
	6 Consultation on Manchester Rail Services
	Appendix A - MANCHESTER RECOVERY TASK FORCE PUBLIC CONSULTATION
	Appendix B - Consultation Document
	Manchester Recovery Task Force
	Public Consultation
	Summary
	Manchester Recovery Task Force
	Impact of COVID-19
	Initial first steps
	Manchester’s railway geography
	Objectives for the options
	Question 1: Do you support the aim of standardising and simplifying service patterns if this will significantly improve overall train performance?

	Description of options
	Assessment method
	Question 2: Do you support the approach of measuring the service level and performance impacts across all passengers to allow fair trade-offs between options?

	Initial Assessment results
	Question 3: On the basis of these results, which is your preferred option?

	Next steps
	Question 4: Please provide your views on the details of the proposed changes which are detailed by route in the Appendix.

	Additional questions
	Question 5: Where do you usually travel from and to?  Please include your origin and destination station
	Question 6: How often do you make this journey?
	Question 7: What is the reason for your journey? For example, work, business, education, leisure


	Appendix
	Details of options
	Liverpool to Manchester via Warrington Central
	Liverpool and Wigan to Manchester via Eccles
	Wigan to Manchester via Atherton and Westhoughton
	Preston to Manchester via Chorley
	Blackburn to Manchester via Darwen
	Leeds to Manchester via Rochdale
	Stalybridge to Manchester Victoria (Local Trains)
	Huddersfield to Manchester via TransPennine Main Line
	Sheffield to Manchester via Hope Valley Line
	South Manchester Long Distance Services
	South Manchester Local Services
	Routes from the East to Manchester
	Manchester Airport






